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Abbreviations

&

In this annual report, the following abbreviations have the following RAFHRA - Br X E BB FTIEIN - T 5 E

meanings unless otherwise specified:

“"Memorandum and Articles

of Association”
[HAAEIE RM XA A

"Board”

-

“"Company”

YNGR

"Companies Ordinance”

IPNGIEESN

"Directors”

[E%)

"Group”
[AEE]

“Listing Rules”

[ EmA A

“PRC”
[ B

“SFO”
[ 78 7 & B E 161

"Stock Exchange”
[ Bk 22 FFr

“"HK$" and “HK cent”
[P&7T ) R Al
“RMB”

[AR]

u%u

[% ]

HMABUTEE :
Articles of Association
M EIZ AR

Board of Directors of the Company

ARBIZEER®

Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited
IREEBEBR IR B R A A

Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong
FREDFE622F

directors of the Company

RRRIZES

the Company and its subsidiaries

EAN/NCID &S = PN

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Bk A2 P78 75 T AR Al

The People’s Republic of China
hE AR AMNE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)
BH LB (FAEREE71 &)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMAERXSBRRAR

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BTTREN - BEREEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the People’s Republic of China

ARE  pEARAMBEEEE R

per cent.

Bt
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRHRE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | hereby
present the annual report of Enviro Energy International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “"Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Year").

OVERVIEW

The Group principally engaged in sales of materials business in
the People's of Republic of China (the “PRC").

During the Year, the Group’'s revenue decreased by
approximately 13.1% to approximately HK$462.1 million
from approximately HK$531.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (the “Previous Year”) which mainly
attributable by jointly establishment of Hangzhou Junheng
Building Materials Company Limited* (i1 I8 & 25 B R A 7))
(“Hangzhou Junheng”) with Hangzhou Zhongji Architectural
Deoora’uon Engineering Co., Ltd.* (MU A EZLEEM TIRER

2 7)) ("Hangzhou Zhongji”) in October 2022, which allow the
Group enhancing its sales network and customer base in the
construction industry in the PRC.

The Group recorded a net loss from continuing operations of
approximately HK$68.4 million for the Year (Previous Year:
profit of HK$17.9 million) was mainly contributed by recognition
of one-off loss on debt capitalisation of approximately HK$80.6
million during the Year.

PROSPECTS

Notwithstanding the challenges of the inflation and price
instability in building materials, the management explored
other business opportunities based on its existing supply of
building material business network in the PRC and identified
the significant demand of building materials in the Hangzhou.
In October 2022, the Group and Hangzhou Zhongji jointly
established Hangzhou Junheng. The Group is responsible for
sourcing, procurement, quality control and selection of suppliers
for building materials, while Hangzhou Zhongji introduces
customers and new projects for construction and renovation
services to Hangzhou Junheng by its extensive business
networks including property developers in the PRC. The
Company is of the view that the establishment of Hangzhou
Junheng allows the Group to expand its sales channel, which
will provide more business opportunities to the supply of
materials business of the Group by enhancing its sales network
and customer base in the construction industry in the PRC.
Our confidence in the long-term future of our sales of materials
business remains resolute.

AAERREZS ((EE8])) R2REH
RIERBRA T(FZIK"jD&EIW%
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#) XKERZMMNEEZM AR QE (T4
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HEPERETENHERR TP ER -
REAEENOMHHEERREE S mEmK -
ﬁﬁ'ﬁ“ﬁ”ﬁﬁ'%ﬁ’ﬁi%%ﬂ@ﬁ%*%ﬁ%ﬁ%
=)o
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EFRHRE (8)

The Group continues to optimise its business segments
and management team, and strengthen its management of
operational team. In September 2024, the Group completed
the disposal of the entire equity interests in two wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, which represented the whole
properties investment business.

The disposal represents an opportunity to allow the Group
to (i) settle the loans to reduce indebtedness and improve
its gearing ratio; (ii) resolve the audit qualification on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group; and (iii) resolve
the uncertainty on the provision for repayment obligation to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group surrounding
the litigation filed by the bank on certain subsidiaries of the
Company and allow the Group to be free from the legal
encumbrances of such litigation, which is in the interest of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole. In light of the above,
the Directors are of the view that the Disposal is an appropriate
course of action to take for the long term development of the
Group.

The Company has been continuously reviewing its business
operations and financial position for the purpose of formulating
business plans and strategies for its future business
development, which would enable the Group not only to
develop its existing business divisions but also to capture
business opportunities, diversify its businesses and broaden
its income sources. The Company will endeavour to allocate its
resources in an efficient and effective manner and in the best
interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

APPRECIATION

Our continued success depends on all our staff's commitment,
dedication and professionalism. The Board would also like
to thank every member of our staff for their diligence and
dedication and to express our sincere appreciation to our
shareholders, business partners, clients and suppliers for their
continuous and valuable support.

Li Gang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEAEREY S L

BUSINESS REVIEW

Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
principally engaged in sales of materials businesses and
properties investment in the People’s of Republic of China (the
“PRC").

Sales of materials business

In October 2022, the Group has jointly established Hangzhou
Junheng Building Materials Company Limited* (#1 JI I& &5 2
# B B A 7)) (“Hangzhou Junheng”) with Hangzhou Zhongji
Architectural Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd.* (47 M & #
EEE M TR AR A A ("Hangzhou Zhongiji”). Hangzhou
Junheng become a subsidiary of the Company. Leveraging on
the construction and renovation services provided by Hangzhou
Zhongji, the Group benefited for the introduction of customers
for downstream expansion, the financial result of the Group
was substantially improved since then.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), the
sales of materials contributed a revenue of approximately
HK$461.8 million (year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Previous Year"): HK$530.3 million).

Properties investment

The Group's investment properties comprise certain
commercial units and lands situated in Yingkou city, Liaoning
province, the PRC. During the Previous Year, the Group’s
rental income amounted to approximately HK$1.2 million were
generated from properties investment.

In September 2024, the Group completed the disposal of the
property investment business, the results of the properties
investment segment are therefore presented as discontinued
operations during the Year.

£ E)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5 ()

BUSINESS PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

Notwithstanding the challenge of the inflation and price
instability in building materials, the management explored
business opportunities based on its existing supply of building
material business network in the PRC and identified the
significant demand of building materials in the Hangzhou.

In October 2022, the Group and Hangzhou Zhongji jointly
established Hangzhou Junheng. The Group responsible for
sourcing, procurement, quality control and selection of suppliers
for building materials, while Hangzhou Zhongji introduces
customers and new projects for construction and renovation
services to Hangzhou Junheng by its extensive business
network includes property developers in the PRC. The Company
is of the view that the establishment of Hangzhou Junheng
allow the Group to expand its sales channel, which will provide
more business opportunities to the supply of materials business
of the Group by enhancing its sales network and customer
base in the construction industry in the PRC, the prospect look
promising.

2024 was another strong period for the Group as we maintain
our focus on growing our business in a consistent and
sustainable way since the establishment of Hangzhou Junheng.
Our confidence in the long-term future of our sales of materials
business remains resolute.

The Group continues to optimise its business segments
and management team, and strengthen its management of
operational team. In July 2024, the Group entered into two
sale and purchase agreements with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group have conditionally agreed
to sell, and the purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire,
the entire equity interests of two wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, namely Enviro Energy Capital Investment
(Hong Kong) Limited (“EECIHK", together with its subsidiaries,
the "EECIHK Group”) and Enviro Energy Minerals Limited
("EEML", together with its subsidiaries, the “"EEML Group”),
which principally engaged in property investment business in
the PRC and represented the whole properties investment
business of the Group, at an aggregate consideration of
HK$2 (the “Disposal”). EECIHK Group and EEML Group are
collectively referred to as the “Disposal Group”. In September
2024, the Disposal was completed and the Group’s properties
investment business was discontinued since then.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE Y S LI

The Disposal enable the Group to devote its resources on sales
of materials business which generate stable income, it also
represents an opportunity to allow the Group to (i) settle the
loans to reduce indebtedness and improve its gearing ratio;
(i) resolve the audit qualification on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group; and (iii) resolve the uncertainty on the
provision for repayment obligation to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group surrounding the litigation filed by the
bank on its subsidiaries and allow the remaining group to be
free from the legal encumbrances of such litigation, which is in
the interest of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

The Board will continue to look out for opportunities to make
investments in any business when suitable opportunities arise
to diversify revenue streams of the Group and strengthen the
Group's financial position, and thereby maximising the benefits
of the shareholders as a whole. The Board is fully confident in
the future business development of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue from continuing
operations of approximately HK$461.8 million (Previous Year:
HK$530.5 million), representing a decrease by 12.9% when
compared with the Previous Year which was mainly attributed
to intense competition.

Gross profit

The Group's gross profit from continuing operations for the
Year decreased by HK$5.7 million to approximately HK$34.4
million (Previous Year: HK$40.1 million). The overall gross profit
margin remained relatively stable from 7.6% for the Previous
Year to 7.4% for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5 ()

Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’'s administrative and operating expenses from
continuing operations mainly consisted of (i) staff costs; (ii)
depreciation; (i) legal and professional fee; (iv) office and utility
expenses; and (v) other administrative expenses.

Administrative and operating expenses increased by HK$1.4
million from HK$14.2 million for the Previous Year to HK$15.6
million for the Year which mainly due to increase in exchange
loss of HK$1.8 million.

Loss on debt capitalisation

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has a net current liabilities
and net liabilities of approximately HK$154.1 million and
HK$63.9 million respectively and coupled with the recent
cautious investment sentiment and the prevailing high interest
rate in the debt market, the Group had difficulties in seeking
debt or equity financing to finance its business development.

On 25 January 2024, the Company entered into the settlement
agreement with certain creditors (the “Creditors”), pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to capitalise
the aggregate indebted amount of approximately HK$44.9
million owed to the Creditors by the Company, the Creditors
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 896,993,536 capitalisation
shares at the issue price of HK$0.05 per capitalisation share (the
“Debt Capitalisation”).

The Debt Capitalisation offers the Group with a valuable chance
of reaching a full settlement of its outstanding debt without
utilising existing financial resources of the Company and
exerting pressure on the cashflow position of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE Y S LI

On 2 May 2024, the resolution in relation to grant a specific
mandate to the directors to allot and issue the capitalisation
shares in the extraordinary general meeting was duly passed.
Accordingly, the Company allotted and issued the capitalisation
shares on 3 June 2024 and resulted in an one-off loss on debt
capitalisation of approximately HK$80.6 million during the Year.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 7 February, 28 February, 28 March, 8 April,
30 April, 2 May and 3 June 2024; and circular of the Company
dated 8 April 2024.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs from continuing operations
mainly represented interest expenses on other borrowings,
shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow subsidiaries and loans
from related parties. The increase in finance costs from HK$0.3
million for the Previous Year to HK$0.6 million for the Year was
mainly due to the increase in average borrowings during the
Year.

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

In September 2024, the Group completed the Disposal at a
cash consideration of HK$2 and resulted in an one-off gain on
disposal of subsidiaries of HK$78.5 million during the Year. The
consideration was determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the Company and the purchaser. Upon the Disposal,
the cumulative exchange reserve of approximately HK$8.8 million
was released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
CEAERE LS R M)

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, loss for the Year from continuing
operations attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately HK$76.6 million (Previous Year: profit of HK$6.4
million).

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximize the value of its shareholders (the
“Shareholders”).

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividend payment to the Shareholders, issue
new shares, obtain bank and other borrowings, or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Save for the Debt Capitalisation, there is no material change
in the capital structure of the Company during the Year. The
capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2024, all other borrowings, shareholders’
loans, loans from fellow subsidiaries and loans from related
parties of the Group bore fixed interest rate, the maturity and
currency profile are set out as follows:
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The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debts is calculated as the sum of other borrowings,
shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow subsidiaries and loans
from related parties, less bank and cash balances. Total capital
represents total equity/(deficit) as shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group plus net debts.
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as

AEERBEAABLREZTEN - %L
RFRERNERNREFE - BEF
BMOREMER BRREFR KARRMH
BRAZEFRNRKEEHEEAL ZERN
A RRITEREERTE - BEAER
EAKEGRA M BRRRIE 2 (B
M)EBENBEEFRE - R_T_NFE-F
CEFE+ZR=t+—RZEXRABHEN

follows: K
2024 2023
—E-MEF —F==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other borrowings EER 4,281 200,631
Shareholders’ loans REE R 1,600 11,410
Loans from fellow subsidiaries RERRWBARZER 2,851 29,570
Loans from related parties RKEEBEALZER 549 3,887
Less: Bank and cash balances B IRTTRIR e M (37,702) (28,027)
Net (cash)/debts (R&) BEFH (28,421) 217,471
Total equity/(deficit) (B4 B 36,046 (63,884)
Total capital BARBEE 7,625 153,587
Gearing ratio BEARBERLE Net cash
ReFH 141.6%

Since the amount of bank and cash balances exceeded the sum
of other borrowings, shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow
subsidiaries and loans from related companies, the Group is at
net cash position as at 31 December 2024. Thus, the gearing
ratio was not applicable as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the total equity attributable to the
owners of the Company was approximately HK$12.7 million (31
December 2023: total deficit of HK$79.7 million), the change
was mainly contributed by the Debt Capitalisation during the
Year. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current assets
and current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$105.7
million and HK$60.3 million respectively (31 December 2023:
HK$210.5 million and HK$364.5 million), of which approximately
HK$37.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$28.0 million) was bank
and cash balances.
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3645 EBEIIL) r HRHN377B8EET(Z
T =F+-_A=+—H:280F&8%87T)
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank and cash
balances of approximately HK$37.7 million (31 December 2023:
HK$28.0 million), of which approximately 98.0% and 2.0%
(31 December 2023: 95.4% and 4.6%) were denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB") and Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") respectively.

The Group's current ratio, calculated based on current assets
over current liabilities, was 1.8 at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: 0.6).

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of bank and cash balances deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on
funds generated from operations and fund raising activities.

With the amount of liquid assets on hand and unutilised loan
facility, the management is of the view that the Group has
sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing operational
needs.

Investment properties

The Group’s investment properties contain offices and retail
shops in Mainland China and are leased to third parties under
operating leases for rental income. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$94.1 million and were revalued based on valuations
performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer. As
at 31 December 2024, no investment properties was held by
the Group since the completion of the Disposal during the Year.

Charge on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the investment properties of the
Group with carrying amount of approximately HK$94.1 million
were pledged to secure certain other borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, investment properties of the Group is
under awaiting seizure (¥ 1% Z £) pursuant to civil judgement,
please refer to section “Material Events — Litigation” for the
details of litigation.

Save for the above, the Group did not have any charges on its
assets as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group operates mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
For the operations in Mainland China, the transactions are
mostly denominated in RMB. Minimal exposure to fluctuation in
exchange rates is expected. For the operations in Hong Kong,
most of the transactions are denominated in HK$ and USS$.
Since the exchange rate of US$ against HK$ is pegged to each
other under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the exposure to
fluctuation in exchange rates will only arise from the translation
to the presentation currency of the Group. The Group did not
resort to any currency hedging facility for the Year. However,
the management will monitor the Group's foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have
significant capital commitments.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the repayment obligations borne by
the Group under the civil judgement as disclosed in section
“Material Events — Litigation” is subject to the outcome of
any court order or actions which are yet to materialise, no
contingent liabilities was therefore recognised in this regard.

Save for the above, the Group did not have significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 23
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC (31 December 2023:
28 employees). Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
from continuing operations amounted to approximately HK$5.7
million for the Year (Previous Year: HK$5.5 million). The Group
implements remuneration policy and bonus to ensure that
pay scales of its employees are rewarded on performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’'s
remuneration strategy.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
Year (Previous Year: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

In September 2024, the Group completed the disposal of the
entire equity interests in EECIHK and EEML, which carried out
the whole Group's properties investment. The whole properties
investment business is engaged by the Disposal Group.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 July and 13 September 2024; and circular of
the Company dated 23 August 2024.

Save for the above, there were no significant investment held
and material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the Year.

MATERIAL EVENTS
Litigation

In 2019, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group (the
"Yingkou Subsidiaries”) entered into certain loan agreements
(the "Original Loan Agreements”) with a bank in the PRC
(the “Bank”), pursuant to which the Bank shall provide loans
with an aggregate principal of RMB162.0 million (the “Original
Loan”) to the Yingkou Subsidiaries which carry interest rate
ranging from 9.0045% to 9.5265% per annum and was secured
by the investment properties held by the Yingkou Subsidiaries
(the "Yingkou Properties”). The respective Original Loan and
the respective accrued interests became overdue in December
2019 and January 2020 respectively.

On 3 March 2020, the Bank assigned its entire rights over the
Original Loan to an independent third party (the “Lender A") at
an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB166.6 million
(the “Lender A Receivables”). On 18 August 2020, Lender
A assigned its entire rights over the Lender A Receivables
to another independent third party (the “Lender B") at an
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB176.8 million.
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On 31 August 2020, Yingkou Subsidiaries entered into
two agreements with Lender B (the "Extended Loan
Agreements”), pursuant to which (i) the balance of the Original
Loan and accrued interest as at 18 August 2020 shall amount to
approximately RMB176.8 million, which the Lender B is entitled
to the rights of such receivable from the Yingkou Subsidiaries;
(i) the Lender B shall extend the repayment date of such
RMB176.8 million (the “Extended Loan”) by the Yingkou
Subsidiaries to 17 August 2023, and the Extended Loan shall
carry an interest rate of 5%.

As the Group did not repay the Extended Loan and respective
accrued interest pursuant to the Extended Loan Agreements,
the Extended Loan and the respective accrued interest became
overdue on 17 August 2023.

Lender A had pledged its rights to the Lender A Receivables
to the Bank and there was a dispute between the Bank and
Lender A. The Bank had filed a claim against the Lender A
and the Yingkou Subsidiaries and other defendants for the
repayment of outstanding loans and interest due to default in
certain loan agreements between the Bank and Lender A.

In 2022, the Group received a civil judgment and it was
adjudged that (i) Yingkou Subsidiaries are obliged to repay the
outstanding balance under the Extended Loan and respective
accrued interest to the Bank; and (ii) the Bank or the relevant
court in the PRC may have the right to dispose the Yingkou
Properties by way of auction or sale. Should the judgement
debts borne by the Group less than the aforesaid repayment
amount under Extended Loan Agreements, the remaining
amount shall be repaid to Lender B.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of the Extended Loan
and respective accrued interest amounted to approximately
HK$218.2 million, being the obligation indebted by the Group to
the Bank under the civil judgement, which was fully reflected in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Yingkou Properties with carrying
amount of HK$94.1 million is under awaiting seizure (¥ % & V)
pursuant to the civil judgement. Transfer of ownership on the
Yingkou Properties is restricted.

In September 2024, the Group completed the Disposal, the
relevant subsidiaries ceased to be the subsidiaries of the
Company since then. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
have no repayment obligation or investment properties under
awaiting seizure pursuant to the civil judgement.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD

Mandatory conditional cash offer up to 595,742,780
shares at HK$0.05 per share

On 21 January 2025, Amethyst Asia Limited (the "Offeror”)
and certain vendors (the “Vendors"”) entered into five sale
and purchase agreements in relation to the acquisition of
an aggregate of 709,045,226 shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) beneficially owned by the Vendors, representing
approximately 49.26% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company. Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the
Offeror is required to make mandatory conditional cash offer for
all the issued Shares (the “Offer”).

Assuming that there is no change in the total issued share
capital of the Company up to the close of the Offer, a total of
595,742,780 Shares (representing approximately 41.39% of
the total issued share capital of the Company) will be subject
to the Offer and the maximum cash consideration payable by
the Offeror under the Offer would be approximately HK$29.8
million based on the offer price of HK$0.05 per offer share.

On 11 March 2025, the condition set out in the composite
document dated 3 March 2025 has been satisfied, and the
Offer has become unconditional in all respects. On 25 March
2025, the Offer was closed. Immediately after the close of
the Offer, subject to the completion of the transfer of the
acceptance shares, the Offeror and parties acting in concert
with it are interested in an aggregate of 731,358,376 Shares.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 6 February, 7 February, 27 February, 11 March
and 25 March 2025; and the composite offer and response
document dated 3 March 2025.

RESPONSE FROM THE DIRECTORS REGARDING
THE QUALIFIED OPINION

The auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) issued a
qualified opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Audit Qualifications”), the details of which were described
in the paragraph headed “Basis of Qualified Opinion” of the
independent auditor’s report set out on pages 69 to 75 in this
annual report.
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Set out below is the management’s and audit committee’s
view on the Audit Qualifications.

1. Recoverability of consideration receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Consideration Receivables
of approximately HK$130.4 million represented (1)
consideration receivable of approximately HK$46.5 million
in relation to the disposal of certain residential properties
in Yingkou by the Group to four independent third parties
in 2018; and (2) consideration receivable of approximately
HK$83.9 million in relation to the disposal of certain
commercial properties in Dalian by the Group to two
independent third parties in 2018.

(i)

(ii)

Reasons leading to the audit qualification

Given the Consideration Receivables remained
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and their
recoverability is subject to the outcome of
any negotiations or litigations which are yet to
materialise, the Board understood that the Auditor
was yet to be satisfied on the recoverability of the
Consideration Receivables.

Management position and assessment

As at 31 December 2023, the management
considered that it is possible to recover the
Consideration Receivables through negotiations with
the counterparties who introduced the purchasers to
the Group for a debt restructuring proposal, where
certain payables of the Group may be offset against
the Consideration Receivables. Also, the Company
is exploring with the Lender B and local government
in the PRC for disposal of the Yingkou Subsidiaries
to Lender B or its group companies. Despite there
are no agreement reached yet, the Board considered
that it is premature to evaluate whether any portion
of the Consideration Receivables is recoverable.

As such, the Group did not record any impairment
on the Consideration Receivables as at 31 December
2023.
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(iii)

(iv)

Given the Consideration Receivables remained
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and their
recoverability is subject to the debt restructuring
proposal which are yet to materialise, the Board
understood the Auditor was yet to be satisfied on
the recoverability of the Consideration Receivables.

As the Group completed the disposal of Yingkou
Subsidiaries in September 2024, no Consideration
Receivables was recognised by the Group since
then.

View of the Audit Committee

Taking into account of the above and after discussion
with the Auditor, the Audit Committee agreed with
the Board's view.

Proposed action plan in addressing the audit
qualification

As the Group completed the disposal of Yingkou
Subsidiaries in September 2024, no Consideration
Receivables was recognised by the Group since
then, this audit qualification is expected to be
removed for the year ending 31 December 2025
("FY2025").

2. Provision for repayment obligations

(i)

(ii)

Reasons leading to the audit qualification
Please refer to section “Material Events —
Litigation”.

Management position and assessment

The Directors considers that upon the conclusion of
the litigation between the Bank and the Lender A or
the disposal of the Yingkou Properties in accordance
to the judgement by the relevant court in the PRC,
the Group may be released from its obligation.
Therefore, no additional provision should be provided
concerning the civil judgement.

(iii)

(iv)
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(iii)

(iv)

However, the Group is unable to provide evidence
on the repayment status of Lender A and other
defendants nor their financial abilities to fulfil the
repayment obligations as at 31 December 2023,
the Company understood that the Auditor was yet
to be satisfied themselves as to whether there are
no additional repayment obligations under the civil
judgement unless there is concrete repayment
status of Lender A and other defendants.

As the Group completed the disposal of Yingkou
Subsidiaries in September 2024, the Group is no
longer a party to the aforementioned litigation that
led to uncertainties around the sufficiency of the
provision for repayment obligations, which free the
Group from the legal encumbrances as a result of
the litigation filed by the Bank.

View of the Audit Committee

Taking into account of the above and after discussion
with the Auditor, the Audit Committee agreed with
the Board's view.

Proposed action plan in addressing the audit
qualification

As the Group completed the disposal of Yingkou
Subsidiaries in September 2024, the Group was
released from its repayment obligations since then.
Because of the possible effects of this matter
on the comparability of the FY2025 figures and
the corresponding figures for the year ended 31
December 2024 ("FY2024") in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, it is expected that the
auditor will issue qualified opinion in respect of this
matter in FY2025. This audit qualification is expected
to be removed for the year ending 31 December
2026 (“FY2026").

(iii)

(iv)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5 ()

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries under discontinued
operations

In September 2024, the Group completed the disposal of
the entire equity interests in EECIHK and EEML. Given
the effects of the difference in assessment between the
management and the Auditor in relation to the events
stated in points 1 and 2 above, which formed part of the
gain on disposal of subsidiaries recorded by the Group, the
Board understood that the Auditor was yet to be satisfied
with the accuracy of the gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$78.5 million under discontinued
operations for the Year.

(i) Reasons leading to the audit qualification

Given the limitation of scope in relation to the events
stated in points 1 and 2 above, the Board understood
that the Auditor was yet to be satisfied with the
accuracy of the gain on disposal of subsidiaries.

(ii) Management position and assessment
Please refer to points 1 and 2 above.
(iii) View of the Audit Committee

Taking into account of the above and after discussion
with the Auditor, the Audit Committee agreed with
the Board's view.

(iv) Proposed action plan in addressing the audit
qualification

Because of the possible effects of this matter on
the comparability of the FY2025 figures and the
corresponding figures for FY2024 in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, it is expected that the
auditor will issue qualified opinion in respect of this
matter in FY2025. This audit qualification is expected
to be removed in FY2026.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE Y S LI

RISK FACTORS

The Group has identified and is facing a number of significant
risks during the Year. Some of these risks are ongoing factors
which the industry has to cope with in medium to long term.
Other risk factors are specific to the Group.

1. Economic Risk

The Group’s business are closely related to the changes
in business, competitive, regulatory, or economic
environment in which the Group operates, which
may have significant impact to the Group's financial
performance and conditions.

The global economic conditions and the state of
international financial and investment markets, including
the economy, financial and investment markets of the
United States, Mainland China and Hong Kong, of which
the Group has no control, have significant influences on
the business and financial performance of the Group. The
management policy to mitigate this risk is to diversify the
Group's business and to diversify its investments (where
possible) within the same business.

2. Market Risk

The Group's existing businesses are operating in
a competitive environment that puts pressure on
the revenue and profitability of this business. The
management policy to mitigate this risk is to continue to
put effort in enlarging the market share and enhancing the
market competitiveness of these businesses by various
means.

3. Environmental Risk

The Group is constantly exposed to inherent risks such as
pollution, mechanical breakdown of machinery, adverse
weather conditions, fire or other calamity. Any of these
factors may cause disruptions to the Group’s operations.
The Group may also be liable for compensation payable
as a result of these unpredictable events which may
adversely affect its financial performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
CEAERE LS R M)

RISK FACTORS (Continued)
4. Customer Risk

The Group has been relied on a small number of
customers in its existing businesses. This has been
limiting the Group's bargaining power on credit terms and
discount rate. The Group may not be able to significantly
expand its customer base in the short term which may
adversely affect its financial performance.

5. Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to financial risks relating to foreign
currency, interest rate, equity price, liquidity and credit risk
in its ordinary course of business. For further details of
such risks and relevant management policies, please refer
to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for
details.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management of the Group are
aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Group. During the Year,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
Year, there were no significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. In order to
reduce the degree of environmental damage when developing
the Group’s business, the Group strictly complies with the local
laws, rules and guidance in relation to environmental protection.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEREGRE

The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance, the principles of which
are to uphold integrity, transparency and accountability in all
aspects of business and to ensure that affairs are conducted in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations. It is believed
that good corporate governance is fundamental to the success
of the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’
value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set out in
Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Year"), save for the code provisions
C.2.1 of the CG Code. Details of the deviations are explained in
the section “Compliance with the CG Code” of this corporate
governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Group’s code
of conduct regarding Directors’ Securities Transaction. Specific
enquiries have been made with the Directors and they have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code during the
Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The name and office of
each of the members of the Board are as follows:
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEELRE (E)

Board members Office

EEgRE B

Mr. Li Gang* Executive Director and chairman of the Board
= B HITESRESZSIEF

Mr. Wu Wei (Note 1) Executive Director and chairman of the Board
REEEME) WITEERESFGEE

Mr. Pan Lihui# Executive Director

BB A WITES

Mr. Lai Dexing (Note 2)" Executive Director

RABE S & (ffF2)" WMITES

Mr. Cao Zhongshu Executive Director

EhEFEL WITES

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Note 3) Non-executive Director

ERMEAE (15 3) FEHMITES

Ms. Wu Wenling (Note 4) Non-executive Director

R+ (Kat4) FEHITES

Mr. Zhong Jian* Independent non-executive Director
ER A BYIFATES

Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang (Note 5)" Independent non-executive Director
skBEoR S 4 (AaE5)" B IENITES

Mr. Pan Yongye Independent non-executive Director
EXRERE BYIFATES

Mr. Liu Qin# Independent non-executive Director
G o B IENITES

Ms. Xie Jiayang (Note 6)"
#EB L (HiEe)”

Independent non-executive Director

BIUIFATES

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save for disclosed in  FLEZ TR R A FRFTFEEEIN - £
this annual report, there is no other financial, business, family [ENEE 2K 8 2 B & T A E 4B 75 -
or other material/relevant relationship(s) between the Chairman %7 KBS EMEZE HEAMBEZ -

and among members of the Board.

" Appointed on 22 April 2025
# Resigned on 22 April 2025

" RZE_RAFMNA-Z+_HEZ(E
# RZE-ZAFMA =+ =HEIT
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEELRE (F)

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year. The
attendance of individual director at the regular Board meetings,
extraordinary general meetings and annual general meeting of

THEEFHELRTERGE T
E%W%%$m$¢r%ﬁ2$ RIESR
efle BREFIASEEBRERFASZ

the Company held during the Year is set out in the following i /F 0% :
table:
Annual  Extraordinary  Extraordinary
General General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting
(held on (held on (held on 13
Board 28 June 2 May September
Meetings 2024) 2024) 2024)
RRBEFAE
(R=B-mE BRRBIAE BREIAE
AAZTNE (R=2-@mE (R=2-@D#F
Ezged 2{7) BAZRE) NAT=ZREM)
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Li Gang (Chairman)* TREE(LE) 4/4 o1 1 7
Mr. Wu Wei (Chairman) (Note 1) REFZ4E(FE) (Hat1)" N/A i N/A i N/A R E R N/A T
Mr. Pan Lihui * BB 4/4 11 11 il
Mr. Lai Dexing (Note 2)* REBELE (HiE2) N/A i N/A i N/A NEF N/A NE A
Mr. Cao Zhongshu ERETE 4/4 i i i
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Jiang Senlin (Note 3) ERWEE (H17£3) 4/4 11 11 11
Ms. Wu Wenling (Note 4) RNE LT (Hit4) N/A 8 A N/A 8 A N/A 8 A N/A 8 A
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Zhong Jian* BRI 4/4 0/1 I 11
Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang (Note 5)" SRR A4 (f715)" N/A i F N/A 73 F N/A T B N/A 1 A
Mr. Pan Yongye EKERE 4/4 17 1 1L
Mr. Liu Qin* EE 444 i 1 A
Ms. Xie Jiayang (Note 6/ SEBL L (Hit6)" N/A 8 A N/A 38 N/A 58 A N/A T8 A

Appointed on 22 April 2025
# Resigned on 22 April 2025

RZE-ZAFMAZ+ZAREE

RZE-_RAFMNA-+—HEHT
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEELRE (F)

Note:

Mr. Wu Wei has obtained legal advice referred in Rule 3.09D to the Listing
Rules on 17 April 2025 and has confirmed he understood his obligations
as a Director.

Mr. Lai Dexing has obtained legal advice referred in Rule 3.09D to the
Listing Rules on 17 April 2025 and has confirmed he understood his
obligations as a Director.

Mr. Jiang Senlin was redesignated from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director on 5 July 2024.

Ms. Wu Wenling was appointed as a non-executive Director on 18
December 2024 and resigned as a non-executive Director on 22 April
2025. Ms. Wu Wenling has obtained legal advice referred in Rule 3.09D
to the Listing Rules on 18 December 2024 and has confirmed she
understood her obligations as a Director.

Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang has obtained legal advice referred in Rule 3.09D to
the Listing Rules on 17 April 2025 and has confirmed he understood his
obligations as a Director.

Ms. Xie Jiayang has obtained legal advice referred in Rule 3.09D to the
Listing Rules on 17 April 2025 and has confirmed she understood her
obligations as a Director.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEELRE (F)

During the Year, the Directors have participated in the approval
of routine and operational matters of the Company by way of
written resolutions circulated to them together with supporting
documents and briefings from the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”). As for the regular Board
meetings, the Directors receive at least 14 days’ prior written
notice of a regular Board meeting and may propose matters for
discussion to be included in the agenda. The agenda together
with accompanying board papers are sent to the Directors at
least three days prior to a regular Board meeting.

The Board, led by the Chairman, approves and monitors the
Group's business strategies and policies, strategic decisions
and directions, annual budget, and other major corporate
matters. Besides, the management has powers and authorities
delegated by the Board and exercises such powers and
authorities by the Board from time to time. The management
assumes full accountability to the Board for the operation of the
Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed. The Board is briefed on all
legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments
and has regarded to them when making decisions. The
Company Secretary, together with the Board, are also directly
responsible for the Group's compliance with the continuing
obligations of listed issuers under the Listing Rules, the
Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, the
Companies Ordinance, the SFO and other applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

Throughout the Year, the Board at all times met the
requirements of Rule 3.10 and Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs representing
at least one-third of the Board, with at least one INED
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. Therefore, there
is strong element of independence in the Board to exercise
independent judgment. The Company has received from each
INED an annual written confirmation of their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the INEDs have met the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with terms of the guidelines.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEELRE (F)

ARRANGEMENT OF APPROPRIATE INSURANCE
COVER IN RESPECT OF LEGAL ACTION AGAINST
THE DIRECTORS

The Company has put in place appropriate insurance cover in
respect of the Directors’ liability in accordance with the code
provision C.1.8 of the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the
Year, Mr. Li Gang is the chairman of the Board and the Company
has not appointed a chief executive officer. Accordingly, the
duties of the chief executive officer have been undertaken by
the executive Directors. The Board will keep reviewing the
current structure of the Board and the need of appointment of
a suitable candidate to perform the role of the chief executive
officer. Appointment will be made to fill the post to comply with
the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, if necessary.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs are appointed for a term of twelve months and subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association, which automatically renews for successive
twelve month periods unless terminated by either party by two
months’ written notice prior to the expiry of the term.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Any newly appointed Directors would receive an induction
package covering the Group's businesses and the statutory
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. All
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors are continually updated on developments in
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. The Company
has provided timely technical updates, including the briefing on
the amendments on the Listing Rules and the news released
published by the Stock Exchange to the Directors. Continuing
briefings and professional development for the Directors are
arranged where necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEELRE (F)

In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
during the Year, the Directors were regularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations, and have been provided with reading materials
to keep them informed of the latest updates in the relevant
market and changes on the legal and regulatory environment.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ng Yu Ho (“Mr. Ng") was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 12 June 2021. The primary contact person at the
Company during the Year with Mr. Ng was Mr. Li Gang, the
Chairman to the Board.

During the Year, Mr. Ng were responsible for providing
advice to the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr. Ng
confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year, pursuant to Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

There is no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the
preceding three years.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
independent auditor provided the following audit and non-audit
services to the Company with remunerations as follows:

Auditor's Remuneration 2 S0 B 7
— Audit service — ZBRTE
— Non-audit service — FEZER TS

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees. The authority and
duties of the Audit Committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”), Remuneration Committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination Committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) are set out in
their respective written terms of reference which are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The terms of
reference of all committees are posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively. All committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. As at the date of this
report, the Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, the name
and office of each of the members of the Audit Committee are
as follows:

Audit Committee Members
Mr. Liu Qin (Chairman) (Resigned on 22 April 2025)
Ms. Xie Jiayang (Chairlady) (Appointed on 22 April 2025)

Mr. Pan Yongye
Mr. Zhong Jian (Resigned on 22 April 2025)
Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang (Appointed on 22 April 2025)

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia,
to review and supervise the financial reporting process and
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls and risk
management. The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year
in reviewing the interim and annual reports of the Company
before submission to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with management and
external auditors and reviews their reports. During the Year, the
Audit Committee met two times to (i) review the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the unaudited condensed consolidated financial information for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 with recommendations
to the Board for approval; (ii) review the Groups’ internal
control system and related matters and discussed with the
management and the auditors on the accounting policies and
practices that may affect the Group; (iii) consider and make
recommendations of the re-appointment of the independent
audit of the Company; and (iv) other matters in accordance
with its terms of reference. The record of attendance of each
member at the committee meetings is set out below.
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Number of

attendance

Members RE HEXRE

Mr. Liu Qin (Resigned on 22 April 2025) %IJ%SEE (R=ZZT=RF 2/2
—+ZHET)

Ms. Xie Jiayang (Appointed on 22 April 2025) Eﬂﬂi%‘ﬁi (R—ZE-AF N/A 3@ A

WAZ+=—HEZET)

Mr. Pan Yongye EKERE 1/2

Mr. Zhong Jian (Resigned on 22 April 2025) EREE(R_TE-_RF 2/2
MMAZ+=HEHfTE)

Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang (Appointed on 22 April 2025)  REER LA (R -_T - R4 N/A 71 i

MA-+-HEZME)
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMESES

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with ARAEER FHRAIFE 326K R EE S
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the SFRIFEI1BRRKYHFMEE S - WEHER
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. As at the date  BE#E#E - N AREHE  HES 2/
of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three =ZBIYIEHTESHEK  FHEEe S
INEDs, the name and office of each of the members of the F{EHIHEL REIMAT :

Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Remuneration Committee Members FMEZEEERE

Mr. Zhong Jian (Chairman) (Resigned on 22 April 2025) BRI L (FE)
(RZE-_RAFMHAZ+ZHEHIT)

Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang (Chairman) (Appointed on 22 April 2025) oREER A (F/E)
(RZZE-_RAFNHA=-+=-HEZMHF)

Mr. Pan Yongye EKFESLAE

Mr. Pan Lihui (Resigned on 22 April 2025) BB AE
(RZE-—RAFMOA-+=HET)

Ms. Xie Jiayang (Appointed on 22 April 2025) HEB L

(R-_ZF-_AFNWA-+-BEZE)
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The Remuneration Committee should consult with the
chairman on its remuneration proposals for other executive
Directors, and may access to independent professional advice
if necessary. The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include, among others, (i) the recommendation
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; and (ii) the review and approval
of management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives, and the determination,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual executive Director and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the
Board retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of Directors are set
out in Note 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the Year to
review and approve the remuneration packages of all Directors
and senior management and other matters in accordance with
the Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference. During the
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HHTE MEFE FHZESAUSK
BUEEBR -FMEZEG@ZTEBRER
(EHER (I MARF2BEERERE
IR R BN EOR S 2R ARBLRR L IER
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34(a) °
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process, no individual director was involved in decisions relating % - S K ELFEZE @ &3 2o H PN
to his/her own remuneration. The record of attendance of each T3
member at the committee meeting is set out below.
Number of
attendance
Members 8 HEIRE
. ________________________________________________________________________
Mr. Zhong Jian (Resigned on 22 April 2025) EREAE(RZZE_hF 11
mA—+ - BHEHE)
Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang (Appointed on 22 April 2025)  REE@E4L (R-E-HF N/A A~ 3
MA-+-—BEZE)
Mr. Pan Lihui (Resigned on 22 April 2025) BYUBAE(RZZE_RAF 11
MmA -+ HEfT)
Mr. Pan Yongye EIKERE 11
Ms. Xie Jiayang (Appointed on 22 April 2025) HEBRE (RZZTE-_RF N/A 35

MA-+=—HEZEE)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3
of the CG Code. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises one executive Director and two INEDs,
the name and office of each of the members of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

Nomination Committee Members

Mr. Pan Yongye (Chairman)

Mr. Zhong Jian (Resigned on 22 April 2025)
Mr. Cao Zhongshu

Ms. Xie Jiayang (Appointed on 22 April 2025)

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, among
others, to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; to assess the independence of INEDs; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the diversity of the
Board during the Year and will review the Board Diversity Policy
(as defined below) from time to time to ensure that the policy
will be implemented effectively.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the independence
of each of the INEDs under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considered each INED to be independent.

The Nomination Committee met once during the Year to
(i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and its diversity, (ii) assess the independence of INEDs, {iii)
make recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the
Directors at the annual general meeting; and (iv) to consider
other matters in accordance with its terms of reference.
The record of attendance of each member at the committee
meeting is set out below.
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Number of
attendance
Members RE IR
Mr. Pan Yongye EKERE 1/1
Mr. Zhong Jian (Resigned on 22 April 2025) ERITE(RZE-_AF 11
MA=+=H %ﬂEE)
Mr. Cao Zhongshu EhEF kL 11
Ms. Xie Jiayang (Appointed on 22 April 2025) HEBZET (RZEZRF N/A 71 i 3

MA-+-HEZRE)
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NOMINATION POLICY RABXK
The Board has resolved on 28 December 2018 to adopt the BEEEZRN_Z—/\F+-_A=-+/\H:=
following Nomination Policy: RERA IR BBUR -
1. The Nominee Committee will: 1. REZEgH:
1.1 review and monitor the structure, size and 11 BELEBFRANEREFTENHR

composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

1.2 identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board 1.2
members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

1.3 assess the INEDs and where the Board proposes 1.3
a resolution to elect an individual as an INED at the
general meeting, it should set out in the circular
to shareholders (“Shareholders”, and each a
“Shareholder”) and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting:

1.3.1 the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual
should be elected and the reasons why it
considers the individual to be independent;

1.3.2 if the proposed INED will be holding their
seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would
still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board,;

1.3.3 the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

1.3.4 how the individual contributes to diversity of
the Board.
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1.4

1.5

1.6

2.1

review the diversity of Board members periodically
which can be achieved through consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience;

make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer; and

assist the Board in the development and review of
the Board’s diversity policy and directors’ nomination
policy, as appropriate; and review the measurable
objectives for the implementation of the Board's
diversity policy and monitor progress towards the
achievement of such.

The Company’s process for appointing a Director

Approach and procedures for the Board to appoint a
Director

211 Nomination Committee considers the
candidates based on merit having regard
to the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives and then makes
recommendations to the Board as appropriate;

2.1.2 Executive Directors’ appointment will be made
through a service contract with a term of
service continues unless and until terminated
by either party by giving to the other three
months’ period notice in writing;

2.1.3 Non-executive Directors’ (“NEDs"”, and each
a "NED") appointment will be made through
a formal letter of appointment with a term
of twelve-month period which automatically
renews for successive twelve months periods
unless terminated by either party in writing
prior to the expiry of the term;
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214

215

216
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a3E (8)

Retiring NEDs, including those who have
served as NEDs for a period of 9 consecutive
years, are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at a general meeting.
For the avoidance of doubt, (a) the 9-year period
for determining the eligibility of an NED for
nomination by the Board to stand for election
at a general meeting would count from his/her
date of first appointment as an NED until the
date of the forthcoming annual general meeting
when his/her current term of service will expire
at the end of that meeting; and (b) an NED who
has been serving on the Board for a period of
9 consecutive years or more may continue to
hold office until expiry of his/her current term;

[f an INED has served more than 9 years,
such Director’s further appointment should
be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by Shareholders. The papers to the
Shareholders accompanying that resolution
should state the reasons why the Board (or
the Nomination Committee) believes the
Director is still independent and should be re-
elected including the factors considered, the
process and the discussion of the Nomination
Committee or the Board in arriving at such
determination;

Where all the independent non-executive
Directors have served more than nine years on
the Board, the Company should:

(a) disclose the length of tenure of each
existing independent non-executive
Director on a named basis in the circular
to the Shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the
annual general meeting; and

(b) appoint a new independent non-executive
Director on the board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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217

218

Newly appointed Directors approved by the
Board are subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting following the
appointment (in case of filling a casual
vacancy) or until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company (in case of
an additional to the Board), but he shall not be
taken into account in determining the Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation in case he retires at an annual general
meeting; and

Existing Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at the annual general meeting at
least once every three years but are eligible
for re-election. This applies to one-third of
existing Directors according to the Articles of
Association. The Directors to retire by rotation
shall include any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election.

2.2 Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

221

222

If a Shareholder of the Company wishes to
propose a person other than a retiring director
for election as a director of the Company at a
general meeting, the Shareholder (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the general meeting shall
send a written notice, duly signed by the
Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his/her
willingness to be elected;

These notices should be lodged at the
Company's head office in Hong Kong or the
Company’'s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, during
a period commencing no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and ending
no later than seven days prior to the date of
such general meeting provided that such period
shall be at least seven days; and
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2.2.3 Shareholders may put forward their enquiries
about the Company to the Board through the
Company Secretary at Room 1607, 16/F, Tower
2, The Gateway, Harbour City, 25 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.

2.3 Approach and procedures for Shareholders’ approval
to appoint a Director at the general meeting

2.3.1 Proposed Director appointment is considered
as an individual resolution at the general
meeting;

2.3.2 Shareholders will approve the election or re-
election of Directors by Ordinary Resolution at
the Company’s general meeting; and

2.3.3 Any Director so appointed shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting
of the Company (in the case of filling a causal
vacancy) or until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company (in the case
of an addition to the Board), and shall then be
eligible for re-election at the meeting, but he
shall not be taken into account in determining
the Directors or the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation in case he retires at an
annual general meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company. The Board
Diversity Policy aims at achieving diversity on the Board.
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Measurable Objectives and Selection

In designing the Board's composition, a number of perspectives
which include race, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, industry experience, technical and professional
experience, knowledge, skills, length of service, personal
integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates will
be taken into consideration. The Company will also take into
account factors relating to its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on
merit and contribution that the candidates will bring to the
Board. Candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board.

The Board will take opportunity to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and
making recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate balance
of gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best
practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to
gender parity. The Board also aspires to having an appropriate
proportion of Directors who have direct experience in the
Group's core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds, and
reflecting the Group's strategy.

Gender Diversity

The Board recognises the importance of the Board gender
diversity for enhancing the corporate governance system and
strategic decisions in the boardroom. Ms. Wu Wenling was
appointed as a non-executive Director on 18 December 2024
and was resigned as a non-executive Director on 22 April
2025; and Ms. Xie Jiayang has been appointed as an INED on
22 April 2025 (collectively, the "Appointments”). After the
Appointments and as at the date of this annual report, the
Board is of the opinion that the Company achieved the diversity
requirements under the Listing Rules as the Board is no longer
composed of a single gender. The Board will continue to review
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Details of gender ratio of the workforce (including senior
management) are set out in the 2024 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.
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Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and report to the Board annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance duties set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code are carried out by the Board
pursuant to the following terms of reference adopted by the
Board:

(a) to develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Company's
employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that the consolidated financial statements have adopted the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
complied with the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the
Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s
Report section of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems are in place for the Group.

The Group's system of risk management and internal control
includes a defined management structure with limits of
authority, and is designed to safeguard the Group's assets
against unauthorised use or misappropriation, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounts, and ensure compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business objectives.

The Group has a risk management process in place to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks and to resolve material
internal control defects, if any. Risks are compiled, rated
and mitigation plans are proposed and documented in a risk
template by the responsible officer of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The risk assessment is reviewed and evaluated
by the management of the Company. The identified risks are
managed by the Group through (i) implementing controls that
eliminate the risk entirely, (ii) implementing mitigation plans
to reduce the severity of the risk to an acceptable level, or (iii)
taking no action if the risk is acceptable for the Group (as the
case may be). The risk assessments are presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review semi-annually.

The Group has maintained internal control policies to provide
sufficient guidelines for the management staff and employees
of the Company to work efficiently under a standardised work
procedure. The internal control policies cover various operating
processes from risk assessment, financial reporting, cost
management, pricing for projects, staff recruitment and training
to IT system control. The internal control system is generally
overseen by the executive Directors and senior management
and is reviewed at least once a year.
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Given the current operations of the Group, no internal audit
department has been set up within the Group. Pursuant to
code provision D.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company evaluates
and reviews its risk management and internal control system
on an annual basis. During the Year, the Group engaged an
independent external consulting firm as the Group's internal
control consultant to review the effectiveness of the Group's
selected internal control measures. The review of the Group's
internal controls covering major financial, operational and
compliance controls, as well as risk management functions of
different systems have been done on a systematic rotational
basis based on the risk assessments of the operations and
controls. No major issue but areas for improvement have been
identified. The Board and the Audit Committee considered that
the key areas of the Group's internal control systems and risk
management are reasonably implemented and to be effective
and adequate.

For compliance with code provision D.2.4(e) of the CG Code, the
Company has adopted the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission
as its own guidelines in handling and dissemination of inside
information. Unauthorised use of confidential information is
strictly prohibited. The Group has established procedures to
identify and evaluate events or circumstances which potentially
involve or constitute inside information. Prior to disclosure, the
Board is responsible for ensuring that any inside information
relating to the Group is kept strictly confidential and restricting
access to inside information to a limited number of parties
on a need-to-know basis. The Group would strive to ensure
disclosure of inside information to be made in a manner that
provides for equal, timely and effective access by the public.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group which
includes interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars, is disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner
through the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively.

The Company also acknowledges that general meetings are
valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly with
the Shareholders and members of the Board and committees
are encouraged to attend and answer questions at the general
meetings.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward
Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Directors for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request
the Company to convene a general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

If a shareholder of the Company wishes to propose a person
other than a retiring director for election as a director of the
Company at a general meeting, the shareholder (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by the
shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be
lodged at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong or the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, during a period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting provided that such
period shall be at least seven days.

Shareholders may put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board through the Company Secretary at
Room 1607, 16/F, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, 25
Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.
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Shareholder Communication Policy

Information of the Company are communicated to the
Shareholders mainly through the Company's financial reports
(interim and annual reports), announcements, circulars and
other corporate publications made available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and the direct
communication platform at the annual general meeting held
every year and any other general meetings that may be
convened as required. Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the
Company Secretary. The Shareholders’ Communication Policy
adopted by the Company is publicly available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company and will be monitored
and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will
be made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.
During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
policy and confirmed its effectiveness.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy adopted by the
Company is publicly available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy to declare and
distribute dividends to the Shareholders (the “Dividend
Policy”). The Company considers stable and sustainable
returns to the Shareholders to be our goal and endeavours to
maintain a progressive dividend policy. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount,
the Board takes into account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings
performance, financial position, investment requirements and
future prospects, and other factors that the Board deems
relevant. The recommendation of the payment of any dividend
is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of
the Shareholders. The Board will review the Dividend Policy
on a regular basis and may exercise at its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend and modify the Dividend Policy at
any time as it deems fit and necessary.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year. A copy of the Company's latest
constitutional documents is publicly available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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The biographical details of Directors up to the date of this
annual report, are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wu Wei ( “Mr. Wu”), Chairman

Mr. Wu, aged 34, has been appointed as an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board since 22 April 2025.

Mr. Wu obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics
from Indiana University Bloomington, the United States in
June 2015. Mr. Wu is qualified as an intermediate engineer in
the PRC. He is currently the president of Zhejiang Zhongnan
Holding Group Co., Limited* (I EERERE B R A F]) and
is responsible for the overall operation of the group. He also
serves as the president of Zhejiang Zhongnan Construction
Group Co., Limited* T MmEREBE B R A7) and the
general manager of a construction engineering division, and is
responsible for the management of the engineering business
segment.

HEAFHAH ZFE2EEFBEHIIN
S 8

RERE(TREXED  TF

REE U  BZE_AFNA-+=
HEEZTAWNTEENESSEF -

REAR -_Z-—RAFNANGEEHNER
BAEBRFEINBEEXEEE B -
RELFEETEPRTIZAMER - BRE
MITHEEREEERARMAH AEEX
FEBZEIFE YHREMNIPEERE
BMARARBHEMEETRRGELE -
BEEETIREXHRE -

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§

49



50

Directors Profile (Continued)

EEEHNT ()

Mr. Lai Dexing ( “Mr. Lai”)

Mr. Lai, aged 51, has been appointed as an executive Director
since 22 April 2025.

Mr. Lai graduated with a bachelor’'s degree with over 30 years
of experience in financial work.

Mr. Lai has been the vice president and chief financial officer
of Zhejiang Zhongnan Construction Group Co., Ltd* (J#f /I &
MEXEBEABR QA (“Zhongnan Construction Group”)
since January 2022. He was engaged in the financial work of
Zhongnan Construction Group from July 1991 to July 1994,
served as the head of finance department of Zhejiang Zhongnan
Group Motorcycle Co., Ltd* (AT I FEEFEEFR A A) from
August 1994 to January 2002, the chief financial officer of
Zhejiang Zhongnan Green Construction Technology Group Co.,
Ltd.* (I mEAEEREEBE BR A F]) (previously known
as Zhejiang Zhongnan Construction Group Steel Structure Co.,
Ltd* (T EHEZREEMEEBR2QAF) (“Zhongnan
Green Construction”) from February 2002 to March 2013, the
manager of the finance department of Zhongnan Construction
Group from March 2013 to February 2015, the chief financial
officer of Zhongnan Construction Group from March 2015 to
June 2017 and the chief financial officer of Zhongnan Green
Construction from July 2017 to December 2021.
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Mr. Cao Zhongshu (“Mr. Cao”)

Mr. Cao, aged 33, has been appointed as the executive Director
and a member of the Nomination Committee since 30 June
2023.

Mr. Cao obtained a master degree in Diplome ESC from ESCP
Business School in France and a bachelor degree in science
from Peking University. He also has the practicing license in
securities issued by the Securities Association of China and
the Securities Practice Qualification Certificate granted by
Asset Management Association of China. Mr. Cao has many
years of experience in investment, financing and corporate
management. He has served in Ether Capital, a financial
consulting company, and HC Capital, a private equity firm.
Mr. Cao is currently a legal representative of Hangzhou Jun
Heng Building Materials Limited* (471 M & %5 3 # & R A 7))
("Jun Heng Building Materials”), an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, responsible for its daily operations,
and an investment director of Zhejiang Zhongnan Construction
Group Company Limited* CHI R R EEBRAF), which
has an indirect interest in Jun Heng Building Materials.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Jiang Senlin ( “Mr. Jiang”)

Mr. Jiang, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director on
28 June 2019 and has been redesignated as a non-executive
Director since 5 July 2024.

Mr. Jiang has been the vice-president and chief financial officer
in Wonderland International Financial Holdings Limited (% &
B R & R 1E M A R A 7)) since January 2018. Mr. Jiang has
been an independent non-executive director of China Ruifeng
Renewable Energy Holdings Limited, which is listed on Main
Board (Stock Code: 527) since 31 January 2019 and Wan Kei
Group Holdings Limited, which is listed on Main Board (Stock
Code: 1718) since 7 September 2023. Mr. Jiang worked in
Beijing Renge Technology Corp. Ltd (3t R & B 1D B R
72 7)) (NEEQ Code: 837824, voluntarily delisted in December
2018) as vice general manager and chief financial officer from
September 2015 to December 2017 and was a non-executive
director of Ruihe Data Technology Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Suoxinda Holdings Limited”), which is listed on
Main Board (Stock Code: 3680) for the period from March 2022
to June 2022. He also worked as chief financial officer (Asia)
in Morningstar, Inc. (NASDAQ: MORN) from August 2009 to
September 2015.

Mr. Jiang was qualified as an accountant in the People’s Public
of China in May 1998 and as an intermediate financial officer
conferred by the Ministry of Personnel People's Republic of
China in November 1997. Mr. Jiang completed his research
program in Art and Culture (32 2) at Sichuan University in
July 2000 and obtained his bachelor degree in Accountancy
at the Central Institute of Finance (FF R 8/ X & @ 2 F%) (now
known as the Central University of Finance and Economics) in
June 1993.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhang Xiaoqiang ( “Mr. Zhang”)

Mr. Zhang, aged 45, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the remuneration committee
of the Company and a member of the audit committee of the
Company since 22 April 2025.

Mr. Zhang graduated from China University of Political Science
and Law with a bachelor’s degree and obtained the qualification
certificate of National Judicial Examination in the PRC in
2006. He possesses a solid foundation in legal theory and has
focused on legal matters related to major and complex civil
and commercial litigation, corporate dispute resolutions and
the defense of occupational and economic crimes since his
practice.

Mr. Zhang is currently a senior partner of Beijing Jotai Law
Firm and an arbitrator of the Beihai Arbitration Commission. Mr.
Zhang previously worked as an investment legal manager and a
securities affairs representative.

Mr. Zhang was awarded the honorary title of Outstanding
Communist Party Member of the legal profession in Beijing at
the 100th anniversary of the Chinese Communist Party.
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Mr. Pan Yongye ( “Mr. PAN”)

Mr. PAN, aged 30, has been appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director, chairman of the nomination committee,
a member of the audit committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company since 30 June 2023.

Mr. PAN obtained a British Honours bachelor degree. He passed
the Securities Practitioner Qualification Examinations of the
Securities Association of China and completed the AFP financial
planner training. Mr. PAN has many years of experience in
investment, financing and undertaking in the Hong Kong
capital market. He is good at business management, corporate
financing and capital cooperation and so on. He has worked
for the credit department of Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China, MILA SPC- Stawell Gold Mine Fund SP as an assistant
of the fund manager, and the product department of Genuine
Oriental Wealth Management Limited as a senior manager.
Mr. PAN is currently the managing director of Foshin PAN-Asia
Capital Limited, responsible for undertaking investment and
merger and acquisition projects.

Ms. Xie Jiayang ( “Ms. Xie")

Ms. Xie, aged 62, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, chairlady of the audit committee of the
Company, and a member of each of the nomination committee
and remuneration committee of the Company since 22 April
2025.

Ms. Xie graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law majoring in Finance and Economics in 1984. She is
a fellow member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a certified tax practitioner and a senior accountant
in the PRC.
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Ms. Xie has over 38 years of professional working experience
in auditing and management consultation and has provided
professional services for more than a hundred enterprises
and multiple government projects. She previously served
as a general manager assistant at Zhonghua Certified Public
Accountants* (H ZE & 5t Al & 7% FT), a managing partner at
Beijing Pan-China Certified Public Accountants* (1t 5 K f#
@ 5T A 7 A7), a managing partner at Deloitte Hua Yong
Certified Public Accountants* (1 ) % sk & 51 A £ 7% F7) and a
managing partner of Ernst & Young Hua Ming Certified Public
Accountants* (& sk ERR& 5T RN B/ FT).

Ms. Xie is currently an independent director of New Hope
Liuhe Co., Ltd.* (377 L/ 7 AR 2 7)) (Shenzhen Stock
Exchange stock code: 000876).

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Upon enquiry by the Company, save as disclosed below, there
is no change in the information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the Company’s last published interim report:

Mr. Jiang has been redesignated as a non-executive Director on
5 July 2024.

* The official name of the entities are in Chinese. The English name is for
identification purpose only.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of Group's activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a fair
review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, an analysis of the
Group's performance using financial key performance indicators
and the Company’s environmental policies and performance,
can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual report. These
sections form part of this report of the Directors.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
Year (2023: nil).

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the
Year (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income on pages 76 to 78.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the Year are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group,
or existed during the Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 81 and Note 33(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 63.1% of the Group's total
revenue and sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 27.2%.

During the Year, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 54.3% of the Group's
total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 20.1%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

The Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 20 to
the Consolidate Financial Statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Gang*

Mr. Wu Wei"

Mr. Pan Lihui#

Mr. Lai Dexing”

Mr. Cao Zhongshu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Redesignated on 5 July 2024)

Ms. Wu Wenling (Appointed on 18 December 2024
and resigned on 22 April 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhong Jian*

Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang”

Mr. Pan Yongye

Mr. Liu Qin#

Ms. Xie Jiayang”

In accordance with Article 108(A) and Article 112 of the Articles
of Association, Mr. Wu Wei, Mr. Lai Dexing, Mr. Jiang Senlin,
Ms. Xie Jiayang and Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang will retire from their
office as Director by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “AGM") and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

Each of Mr. Wu Wei, Mr. Lai Dexing, Mr. Jiang Senlin, Ms.
Xie Jiayang and Mr. Zhang Xiaogiang have indicated their
willingness to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
Details in relation to the re-election are stated in the circular to
be sent to the Shareholders together with this Annual Report.

The Company received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered all of the independent non-executive
Directors as independent.

Appointed on 22 April 2025
# Resigned on 22 April 2025
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DIRECTORS PROFILE

Biographical details of Directors of the Company are set out on
pages 49 to 55 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 34(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION
TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than as disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party
and in which a director of the Company and the Director’s core
connected persons had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract (other than employment contract) concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the Year.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
ESEHRE(E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company, if any, in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

Long positions of Directors in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

EERESTRAERKRS - HEBK
PRESFZEERER

R-ZE-NME+-_A=+—H AR A=
ENZEEITBRAE (WMA) RARARSEMT
AIEEEE (E& R EF KBEEHIEXV
) 2 Bfm - MERD REST  EEIRE
BHEMHEIENEI2ELARND T EE
TR B M RE LR BT 8 C3 P& 2
EETFAMEARR BRIz Em X E
BT

EEREARAROREBARO 2RE

Number of Approximate %

Name of director Capacity and nature of interest shares held of shareholding
Exng SORERME FEROBE BABRAESL
(Note 4)
(Ktzt4)
Mr. Li Gang (“Mr. Li") Interest of controlled corporation 418,542,464 29.08%
FMIEE(TEEE]D RIEHEE 2 (note 1)
(Krat1)
Mr. Pan Lihui (“Mr. Pan”) Beneficial owner 281,384,626 20.54%
EBEAE ([BRE]D EnEBA (note 2)
(Mtat2)
Interest of controlled corporation 14,276,766
REHEE 2 (note 3)
(K7#E3)
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notes:

e (a) Wonderland International Investment Holdings Limited (“WIIHL") is
owned by Hua Zhi Investment Limited (“Hua Zhi") as to approximately
58.44%, which is owned by Mr. Li as to approximately 72.01%; (b)
Wonderland International Financial Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong (“WIFHL (HK)"), is wholly owned by
Wonderland International Financial Holdings Company, a company
incorporated in Cayman Islands (“WIFHC (CY)"); WIFHC (CY) is owned
by Hua Zhi as to approximately 55.95%, which is owned by Mr. Li as to
approximately 72.01%. Mr. Li was therefore deemed to be interested in
the 418,542,464 shares of the Company held by WIIHL and WIFHL (HK)
by reason of interest of controlled corporation within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO. Mr. Li is a substantial shareholder of the Company and
his shareholding in the Company is also set out in the section headed
"Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders Discloseable
under the SFO".

2. Mr. Pan is a substantial shareholder of the Company and his shareholding
in the Company is also set out in the section headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Substantial Shareholders Disclosable under the SFO".

3. WIIHL is owned by Able Plus Investment (Holding) Limited as to
approximately 10%, which is wholly owned by Mr. Pan. Mr. Pan was
therefore deemed to be interested in the 14,276,766 shares of the
Company held by WIIHL by reason of interest of controlled corporation
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

4. As at 31 December 2024, the number of issued shares of the Company
was 1,439,385,743 and the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had registered
an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company, or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the
Company, or had exercised any such rights during the Year.

Hit :

1 @ EERBREEERAER AT (EERE] H
$% HEEBRAB(TE£E] %’éﬁi']5844%$fé
moMESHTEEBRB N2 01%%\
*Wﬁl(@‘imﬁ‘l? REBR AR (—EREH
KRYWAR [EEEMESR]) EEWonderIand
International Financial Holdings Company (— &
RASHEFMRINAF  [EELRMHEE])
TEHRA EEERFAS Hﬂiﬁ*”%*ﬁiﬁ%%%
- MERATEERFLT2.01% o o
REEHEE R (FRRE %&Hﬁfﬂlﬂﬁﬂ
XVER) - Hb A EWIE RN EERE RER
S REBEBITEB 2 A A A)418,542,464 B AR 19
BERER FTRERARAZEERR  HR
RABZBRETSER(REZSRPAEGHRIEE
BRREEBTFHEENERLER | -

\I

2. FERERBARAIZEEZRE - ERARF 2K
BRHRBEEALAERNEEREATHE
BRESERER] & -

3. HEEGERSARNE (BR) ERAAERN
10% 1% MBERILE (ZER) BRARIHAEL
E2EEES ARSI FEBCER (TERE
HREEEOIEXVIE) - FI &k EWER AR
EELE A Z AR T 14,276,766 1% AX 17
HERER -

4. RIZBEZ_NF+—A=+—H ' ARRIE T
A% 17 8t B £1,439,385,743 0% + AN &) I £+
BEMBEFRD

BREXWEEN R_FT_WF+ A

=t—B BMEARREEFLRTSITHA
ERARAHEERBEEE (Ex R ES
kHA MW'J%XV*IK) Z Bt - HE R &
B5F  BELALHERARAREESF M
HIBIRPIE2GARENELCM 2R
R ﬁ SREFETAUZREMBNE

RRAB Rz RSB IER

EERERODHES 2EF

RAEE AEAAI A - A2 A g B AE ] B
J& AR AT S AL &k @Zﬁ%%‘l%ﬁ
BEARAHEMEMEABR 2MDE
B 75 M EEF 25 JT,MEEJZTBZﬁZ@M%
IRKFFRARBBARAES R
REZRITEEMMZEZERN -

RECEIRIER AR AT /2024 F 3k




62

Report of the Directors (Continued)
ESEHRE(E)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE

UNDER THE SFO

Long positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder

As at 31 December 2024, the following interests of more than R _-ZT—
5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Capacity and nature of interest

REFZRAE
BENERRER

EI

RO EERRE T

“HEFZA=+—B ARQFIR
BEESF M EEIIEI6HRRERAFEZ
BB MEE U MEARRR B EITRD
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RAEQXFROUEEARGHRE

Number of Approximate %
shares held of shareholding

BRHER B8 St RERME FEROHE #HAERESHE

(note 4)

(Ktat4)

WIFHL (HK) Beneficial Owner 404,265,698 28.09%

EESHES En#EBA

WIFHC (CY) Interest of Controlled Corporation 404,265,698 28.09%
EESHBFAES ZPEHERE 2 s (Note 1)
(K1)

Hua Zhi Interest of Controlled Corporation 418,542,464 29.08%
B ZPEHERE s (Note 1 & Note 2)
(M1 Riiaz2)

Pu Shi International Investment Interest of Controlled Corporation 418,542,464 29.08%
Limited SEESEAE 2 (Note 1 & Note 2)
EORRIEEBR AT (KiaF1 RHaE2)

Pu Shi Investment Limited Interest of Controlled Corporation 418,542,464 29.08%
REESEE 2 (Note 1 & Note 2)
(KiaF1 R aE2)

Mr. Li Interest of Controlled Corporation 418,542,464 29.08%
oA ZPEHERE s (Note 1 & Note 2)
(M1 Riiaz2)
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Name of shareholder

Capacity and nature of interest

Number of Approximate %
shares held of shareholding

BRREEE BB St RERME FERAEE BOKRAEIL

(note 4)

(Ktat4)

Mr. Pan Beneficial Owner 281,384,626 20.54%

EEE Em#EB A

Interest of Controlled Corporation 14,276,766
RESEE R (Note 2)
(Hfst2)

Ms. Ma Hiu Ngai Interest of spouse 295,661,392 20.54%
BRIt B (B 4 2 (Note 3)
(K1a%3)

Notes: Het -

1. WIFHL (HK) is wholly owned by WIFHC (CY), WIFHC (CY) is owned by 1. EECRAELTHEECRFS2EHRE =2
Hua Zhi and Pu Shi International Investment Limited as to approximately SRAEDHHETRELBBRKERR AR
55.95% and 41.79% respectively. Hua Zhi is owned by Mr. Li as to A #955.95% K A41.79% 2 - EH BT L L
approximately 72.01%. Pu Shi International Investment Limited is wholly HEHEHNT2.01% xR - EABRBRIEEGR AR A
owned by Pu Shi Investment Limited. Accordingly, each of WIFHC (CY), Pu Shi Investment Limited & &5 - B ILIB &
Hua Zhi, Pu Shi International Investment Limited, Pu Shi Investment BHERBAEGRY EEomMAS E28 EAR
Limited and Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by BB IEE AR A E  Pu Shi Investment Limited
WIFHL (HK) by virtue of the SFO. EEhESEERAREZLREBFENR

DA ER -

2. WIIHL is owned by Hua Zhi, Pu Shi International Investment Limited and 2. EEREREL BABRBEEERARRE
Able Plus Investment (Holding) Limited as to approximately 58.44%, RIEE (ER) BR A A D BIHEA £58.44% »
18.38% and 10% respectively. Hua Zhi is owned by Mr. Li as to 18.38% R 10% #w - EEHFREREB L
approximately 72.01%. Able Plus Investment (Holding) Limited is wholly 72.01% K% - FARE (R BRAFHEL
owned by Mr. Pan. Accordingly, each of Hua Zhi, Pu Shi International E2EBEE Bt REIHFRAEKR - =
Investment Limited, Pu Shi Investment Limited, Mr. Li and Mr. Pan is B BEREBRKEERR AR - PuShilnvestment
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by WIIHL by virtue of the Limited * THRAEREBELEESAHERARERE
SFO. BRBORNDPHES#ER -

3. Ms. Ma Hiu Ngai is the spouse of Mr. Pan and is therefore deemed to be 3. BERLTTVEEENRERS BUEBREBEESRR
interested in the Shares in which Mr. Pan is interested by virtue of the HERNERARELEREPHEEEZ R
SFO. MPERER -

4. As at 31 December 2024, the number of issued shares of the Company 4. NRZEBE-_ME+-_A=+—H KR TIEET

was 1,439,385,743 and the Company did not hold any treasury shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Company had not been notified of any other relevant interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group adopted the following philosophies in determining
its emolument policy:

° the Group adopts a performance driven policy so that each
individual is motivated to perform to the best he/she can;

° individual competence, contribution and responsibility are
taken into account when considering the remuneration
level for each employee;

° the Company offers provident fund, medical insurance
and leave benefits to provide basic coverage to staff
for retirement, sickness, rest and relaxation reasons,
respectively; and

° the economic factors and the affordability of the Group
are taken into account in coming up with the overall
remuneration budget for the Group.

The Group has also adopted a discretionary bonus scheme.
Factors, such as overall financial performance, the affordability
of the Company and individual performance, have been taken
into account before determining the entitlement of each
qualified employee.

The determination of Directors’ remuneration has taken
into consideration of their respective responsibilities and
contributions to the Company and with reference to market
terms.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officer of the Company for the time being acting in relation to
any affairs of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which he/she shall or may incur or sustain in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto provided that the indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty of the above
persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other
officers of the Company during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the Year are disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. None of the related party transactions as disclosed
constituted disclosable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and the Company had complied with
the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules during the Year.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation to which
the Shareholders as controlled by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFETRE(R)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group for the Year and
required disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company
(including sale of treasury shares) during the Year. As at 31
December 2024, no treasury shares were held by the Company.

EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

Mandatory conditional cash offer up to 595,742,780
shares at HK$0.05 per share

On 21 January 2025, Amethyst Asia Limited (the "Offeror”)
and certain vendors (the “Vendors") entered into five sale
and purchase agreements in relation to the acquisition of
an aggregate of 709,045,226 shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) beneficially owned by the Vendors, representing
approximately 49.26% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company. Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the
Offeror is required to make mandatory conditional cash offer for
all the issued Shares (the “Offer”).

Assuming that there is no change in the total issued share
capital of the Company up to the close of the Offer, a total of
595,742,780 Shares (representing approximately 41.39% of
the total issued share capital of the Company) will be subject
to the Offer and the maximum cash consideration payable by
the Offeror under the Offer would be approximately HK$29.8
million based on the offer price of HK$0.05 per offer share.

On 11 March 2025, the condition set out in the composite
document dated 3 March 2025 has been satisfied, and the
Offer has become unconditional in all respects.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no significant
event occurred after the end of the reporting period.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEHRE(E)

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 256% of the issued share capital of the
Company was held by the public during the Year and up to the
date of this report, as required under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the corporate governance report on
pages 26 to 48 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management of the Group are
aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Group. During the Year,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
164.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee
and have been duly approved by the Board under the
recommendation of the Audit Committee.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
ESEHRE(E)

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI
ANDA"). ZHONGHUI ANDA will retire and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA as auditors of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Li Gang
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RE
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I III I ZHONGHUI

To the member of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Enviro
Energy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 76 to 163, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
WAL B R E ()

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION RBEERNER

70

Recoverability of consideration receivables

The Group had consideration receivables of approximately
HK$130,383,000 as at 31 December 2023, attributable to
its subsidiaries which were disposed of during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (“"Disposed Subsidiaries”).
The management was in the process of taking various
actions, including but not limited to legal actions, against
the respective debtors. No result from actions was
available up to the date of the disposal of the Disposed
Subsidiaries (“Disposal Date"”) to justify the extent of
the recoverability of consideration receivables. In the
absence of information in relation to the financial status of
the debtors when assessing their respective abilities for
settlement, the management considered that there was
uncertainty on recovering the consideration receivables.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that
we could adopt to determine whether the above amounts
are fairly stated in the consolidated financial statements.
As a result of the above, we have been unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to the recoverability of consideration receivables of
approximately HK$130,383,000 as at 31 December 2023
and as at the Disposal Date.

Provision for repayment obligations

As disclosed in note 26(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, under the civil judgement therein, the Group
had certain repayment obligations arising from the other
borrowings indebted by the Disposed Subsidiaries. Due
to the uncertainties in relation to the civil judgement, we
have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence for us to assess whether no additional provision
has been provided concerning the repayment obligations
under the civil judgement as at 31 December 2023 and
as at the Disposal Date were fairly stated and the profit
or loss effect on the additional provision of repayment
obligations for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
period up to the Disposal Date are properly reflected.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

B3R ET R & (48)

3. Gain on disposal of subsidiaries under discontinued
operations

As disclosed in note 15(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group disposed of a group of subsidiaries,
including the Disposed Subsidiaries, to an independent
third party during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Given the effects of the limitation of scope in relation to
the events stated in points 1 and 2 above formed part of
the gain on disposal of subsidiaries recorded by the Group,
we have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the accuracy
of the gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$78,477,000 under discontinued operations for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above points 1 to
3 might have a consequential effect on the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 and the financial positions of the Group as at
31 December 2023, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

BB AR & (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined
the matter described below to be the key audit matter to be
communicated in our report.

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
The Group assessed the amount of trade and bills receivables
for impairment. This impairment assessment is significant to
our audit because the balance of trade and bills receivables
of approximately HK$53,447,000 as at 31 December 2024 is
material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group's impairment assessment involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

— Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;
— Assessing ageing of the debts;
— Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

— Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;
and

— Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment assessment for trade
and bills receivables is supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
WAL B R E ()

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information in the
Company's annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence about the recoverability of
consideration receivables, provision for repayment obligations
and the gain on disposal of subsidiaries under discontinued
operations. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or
not the other information is materially misstated with respect to
these matters.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

BB AR & (8)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
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HEEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_FE_NEf —A=+—HILFEF

Notes

Continuing operations FFESE XK

Revenue ON

Cost of sales 5 & B AR

Gross profit EF

Other income and gains H b A K e

Administrative and TBREERE
operating expenses

Interest income FEHA

Profit from operation from
continuing operations

Loss on deregistration of
subsidiaries

Loss on debt capitalisation
arrangement

Finance costs

FEKSEER  RERR
BUH R T B A Rl 18
BREMELHEE

(Loss)/profit before income tax

FEQERB ZBRAEHA

from continuing operations (E518]), % F
Income tax expense Frisfimx
(Loss)/profit for the year from BREREEKCEE

continuing operations (E8]), &7
Discontinued operations BARILEREER
Profit/(loss) for the year from BRI R ER 2

discontinued operations FEmA(EE)
Loss for the year FEEFE
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EAVAWES

2024
—EmEF
HK$'000
FTEx

461,848
(427,497)

34,351
34

(15,646)
859

(61,590)
(6,824)

(68,414)

HK$'000
FAETT
(restated)

(&)

530,328
(490,259)

40,069
1,688

(14,237)
267

27,687

(282)

27,405
(9,521)

17,884

(42,170)

(24,286)



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (Continued)

mEEER(§)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

(Loss)/profit for the year DUTEEEGFE
attributable to: (E18), s Fl

— Owners of the Company — RRAER A

— Non-controlling interests — IR =

(Loss)/profit for the year AUTEEmMEEZ
attributable to the owners of AATHEEAELEE
the Company arises from: (E8]), &F

— Continuing operations — BELEER

— Discontinued operations — BRIEREER

(Loss)/earning per share: SR (58 BF
Basic and diluted (in HK cent) BEARRE#E GBI

— Continuing operations — BELEER

— Discontinued operations — BRIEREER

2024 2023
—EoE ===

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

(restated)

(& =75)

(35,750)

11,464

(16,215) (24,286)

(76,602) 6,420

52,199 (42,170)

(24,403) (35,750)

1.18

(7.77)

(6.59)
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

weEHMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ_—ZFE_—F+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2024
—ECONE
HK$’000
FET

Loss for the year FEEFEB (16,215)
Other comprehensive Hib2mE (558), W

(loss)/income, after tax: BRBLE
Items that may be reclassified HEREMTEE

subsequently to profit or loss: BmHE -

Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations & =%

Exchange differences reclassified ~ BUH M B A 711
to profit or loss upon deregistration EF DB EEZR 2
of subsidiaries & =%

Exchange differences reclassified HENBAREEFDEE
to profit or loss upon disposal of BmsEHER
subsidiaries

Other comprehensive (loss)/income G E &b 2 mE (EE), I -

for the year, net of tax HBRTEIE
Total comprehensive loss FEXEHEBEARH
for the year (25,649)
Total comprehensive UTEEEGCFEERZE
(loss)/income for the year (FB5R) WRE%E
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — RAFHEEA
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERR

Total comprehensive (loss)/ BEUATREMEENELQA
income for the year attributable EEAEBGEER2E

to owners of the Company (F518) WA :
arising from:

— Continuing operations — BECEER

— Discontinued operations — BRI

(33,157)
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HK$'000
FAETT
(restated)

(&)

(24,286)

573

573

(23,713)

(35,001)
11,288

(23,713)

5,315
(40,316)

(35,001)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ZGeEMBIRRFR

At 31 December 2024

R-FE-—pmFE+=—H=+—H

Notes
Kt et
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB R E 18
Investment properties KEYE 19
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 21
Trade and bills receivables FEUE ZEE R R R E R 22
Deposits, prepayments and Ze - BARER
other receivables H b fE YRR 23
Bank and cash balances MITNRIB S L8
Current liabilities RS
Trade and other payables BB SERR
H b B 3R 24
Contract liabilities AHAE 25
Amount due to a director B —REEHIA 30(b)
Shareholders’ loans R R E 30(c)
Loans from fellow subsidiaries RKERRMBRARZER 30(d)
Loans from related parties KEBBEEALZER 30(e)
Other borrowings HER 26
Income tax payable FERTETSH
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (AR FHE

2024
—E-lmF
HK$°000
FTERT

105,652

60,325

2023

HK$'000
THETT

21
94,118

94,139

16,229
28,331

137,878
28,027

210,465

115,559
5,760
11,410
29,570
3,887
196,682
1,671

364,539

(154,074)

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

HEMBRRARE (&)

At 31 December 2024

Non-current liabilities
Shareholders’ loans

Loans from fellow subsidiaries
Loans from related parties
Other borrowings

RZFE-ZE+=—F=+—H

FRBEE

PR E 5K

KB RENE AR ZER
KEAWEALZER

s
ET =N

Notes

it

30(c)

30(d)

30(e)
26

2024

—E-NF

HK$'000

FTERT

1,600
2,851

549
4,281

71,969
(59,227)

12,742
23,304

Net assets/(liabilities) BE (BE)FH
Capital and reserves BEXER#E
Equity attributable to KAEEEAEGLESR
the owners of the Company
Share capital & s 27
Reserves {1
Non-controlling interests AR R 2
Total equity/(deficit) R (Bs) B

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 163 have
been approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Li Gang
2l
Director

EF

2023

HK$'000
THET

27,120
(106,800)

(79,680)
15,796

(63,884)

FICER13E LAV RERKESS

EERREFSHRZ

KR ESE

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Cao Zhongshu

ErhE
Director

EF

“HE=AZ-+N\B#ENHTI

NZZT =



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A

FEHERBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE _—FE_E+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LONGE LN 1
Non- Total
Share Share Capital ~ Translation ~ Statutory Accumulated controlling equity/
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests (deficit)
E&/(B4)
Bx  REEE  EARE  EXRE  iERE  RHER &t FERER a8
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEn Tt TR TR TiEn T TR L FiEn
(Not)
(i)
At 1 January 2023 RZF-=F-f-H 21,120 1,108,3% 19,980 51 - (1205945 44,679) 4508 (40171)
Comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(F8)/ b
[Lossliprofit for the year EE(BR)/ R - - - - - (35,750) (35,7501 11,464 (24,286)
Other comprehensive £b2E (BR)/ K&
(loss)/income
Exchange differences arising from REBNEREEL
translation of foreign operations BiER - - - 749 - - 749 (176) 573
Total comprehensive (loss)income 2E(BR)/ haaE - - - 749 - (35,750) (35,001) 11,288 23713
Transfer to statutory reserve BRETTRE - - - - 3,959 3,959) - - -
At 31 December 2023 S a3
“BZt-H 21,120 1,108,3% 19,980 6,520 3959 (1,245,654) (79,680) 15,796 63,884)
At 1 January 2024 HZEZRE-A-H 1,108,395 (1,245,654) (79,680) (63,884)
Comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (F8)/ s
[Loss)profit for the year ER(B8)/ &7 (24,403) (24,403) (16,215)
Other comprehensive 22 (B8 /Wi
(loss)/income
Exchange differences arising from BEBNEREEL
translation of foreign operations EREE 8 8 (680) (672)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit B MIBAFKENHEE
orloss upon deregistration of subsidieries B2 EX 2% 6 6 - 6
Exchange difference reclassified to profit  HEMBAFEEHAEE
orloss upon disposal of subsidiaries Ba/ERER (8,768) (8,768) (8.768)
Total comprehensive (oss)/income 2 (BB)/ hEBE - (8,754) - (24,403) (33,157) 7508 (25,649)
Reserve released upon disposal of HEMBARGRR 2 RE
subsidiaries (Note 150) (Wit 150) - - (19,980) 19,980 - -
Issue of shares for debt capitalisation REREAZREARG
arrangement (Note 27/b)) (Hizt27b) 44,849 80,730 - - 125,579 125,579
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTITHE - - 1883 (1,883) = =

At 31 December 2024

KZZZRFTZA

=+-H 71969 1,189,125

= 2.234)

5842 (1.251,960) 12,142 23,304 36,046

Note: Htet -

AEEMECHBREFEARENR ((HRE] AT
HES ZHEESHBRDETENBRREETH
MEMTHEABRBERBNFRL - ZSBITBERE
TE W M IR R A 8RB BR Bl 18 % R 69 10% - BRIEMEEERE
B F BB A Bl sk A AR 50% © & E R AT AR
HBTFEBE(WA)  YAEBEARMBETHAR
EBHRARHNBARNER -

The statutory reserve of the Group refers to The People’s Republic of China
(“PRC") statutory reserve fund. Appropriations to such reserve fund are made
out of profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements of the
PRC subsidiaries. The amount should not be less than 10% of the profit after tax
as recorded in the statutory financial statements unless the aggregate amount
exceeds 50% of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The statutory
reserve can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in
conversion into the PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of capitalisation issue.

BASEIRE AR AT / 2024 4 35 81
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Consolidated Stateme
SZEHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

nt of Cash Flows

BE_FE_NEf —A=+—HILFEF

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax
— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations

REER

BRELAT (&518), % 7
— RARKBKEERR
— REERLEEEXH

Adjustments for:

Interest income

Finance costs

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Fair value change on investment
properties

Impairment loss on trade and other

LT SITRBEL A
S UA
ME - BERRETE

LA EES
ELCER 5585 3% £ 4 R SOR

receivables, net VERIEN SEi=be=

Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries BUBREF B A R E B

Loss on debt capitalisation arrangement B &AL & HEE 18

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QWS

Gain on discount of other borrowings HEa E AR W=
Operating cash flows before EELESRPRIZRE

movements in working capital REeERE

Change in inventories FEEE

Change in trade receivables JEUE B ER R E

Change in deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

Bre  BARERL
H{h i W SR IR 2

Change in trade and other payables EREZERR
H bR IR E
Change in contract liabilities EHBEEZE
Cash generated from operations RERBES
Income tax paid BB H

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REFED (FA), MERESFRE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEE
Interest received B U F &
Cash outflow from disposal of HENBATMIEAS
subsidiaries (Note 15(c)) (K aE 15(c)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BRETHFEBRESTEE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

2024
—ECONE
HK$’000
FET

(61,590)
52,199

(9,391)

(859)
11,486

80,631

(78,477)

18,007
5,984
(26,560)

2,861

1,105
3,949

HK$'000
FAETT
(restated)

(&)

27,405
(42,170)

(14,765)

(268)
12,001

24,491
3,452

69,922
(3,276)

(80,897)
5,786

19,478
(12,255)

7,223

268

268
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
GZEHERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_ZF_F+_-A=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
TECNF -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(restated)
(seE7)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEES
Proceeds from loans from fellow RKEREMBARIZERZ
subsidiaries Fri8 18 1,400
Proceeds from amount due to a director JEft —REERIE 7 A5 FIAE -
Proceeds from shareholders’ loans MR E FRAT1S IR 1,400
Proceeds from loans from KEBEBEALZERZ
related parties Fri8 18 3,800
Proceeds from other borrowings H i EFASRIE 5,588
Advance to a fellow subsidiary B IEES I ENGIE RN (114)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BMETHAERESFEHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 12,074
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HERREEEYEMTEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 9,132 19,565
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHIzHEESRBESZEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,027 8,143
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCE ON CASH BERBREEEYZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERESHE 543 319
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT A ZRERBRELEEY -
THE END OF YEAR, REPRESENTED MARTRESER
BY BANK AND CASH BALANCES 28,027

BASEIRE AR AT / 2024 4 35 83



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ_—F —NF+ A =+—HILFZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands on 3
July 2002. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The address of its principal
place of business is 20/F, No.9 Des Voeux Road West,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The Company's shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) engaged in sales
of materials business in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

As at 31 December 2024, Wonderland International
Investment Holdings Limited (the “Wonderland
Holdings"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, was
the ultimate holding company of the Company. Amethyst
Asia Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, and its controlling shareholder,
Mr. Wu Jianrong, have become the Company’s immediate
and ultimate holding company and ultimate controlling
party, respectively, since 21 January 2025.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousand of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000), which is
the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency, unless otherwise stated.

On 26 September 2024, the Group completed the
disposal of the entire equity interests in two wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Enviro Energy
Capital Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (“EECIHK")
(together with its subsidiaries, the “EECIHK Group”) and
Enviro Energy Minerals Limited (“EEML") (together with
its subsidiaries, the “"EEML Group”). EECIHK Group and
EEML Group are collectively referred to as the “Disposal
Group”. For the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Disposal Group was regarded as discontinued
operations.

—REH

IREEEBRIZERBER AR ((RAT IR
BEREBHESAGNE(KEFT)RZEE
“HEt+A-HEREFHEEMKILA
BEHEBRAF - Kt SEur
/4 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands © £ 2 & £ 3 2
it AEE FIRIEEHEEIF 2048 -
RATZBDEBEHER AR
NE]([BERFT]) EMR £ -

ARBREMBAR (RHEAER])
MEBXBARPEARKME ([
B WEHEMRIER -

RZE_NFE+ZA=+—1 &
B G &R BRAR ([EEER] -
—HREBEIMKLZAE) BEAR
A Z R IE L A F) © Amethyst Asia
Limited (— &7 2 /8 5 2 B & 5T Ak
NZBRRAE)) REERBRRRESR
EEBTE-_AF—A-+—HES
R BAR TZE&&E— S /N
&3-Skl

BRIEXABRI BRIREFRE VR
RIATETZY > BTRARAZ
WEERAEB 25 E% -

RZZEZMNFALA=Z+B  ~5EH
TERHEEANTIWEEEN B AR (B
IRgeis & (B57%8) AR A7 ([EECIHK])
(R EF B A 7 47 & [ EECIHK &
) RIREEZEER AT ([EEML])
(EREMBAR#EAEIEEMLE
E])) 22 a0 - EECIHK&E B &
EEMLEE#ZBAHEEE] -2
NHE—T-_NMEFER T -_=F+=
A=+ BUHSFEZEAMBHRERM
5 HEEBRRERAC RIS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE=—F —F+=-H=+—HILFZF

GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued) —RER (&)
Basis of preparation MBI

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRS, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap.622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for the investment properties, which is
carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) to exercise their
judgements in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a
going concern basis.

Certain figures in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 related to discontinued
operations have been reclassified and restated to conform
with the current year presentations and accounting
treatment.

REMBBRRDBEEBGFMAE
([BEREFEAE]) EH 2 HENE
HwEER ((ERMBREED]) Okt
BB AEA 2 @R EF B R %
WEER  BEGHEA((ERES
B RRE)  BEARSFRA
RBBRAED (E622F) 2 R EMR
BoBREBREMERE AT EBEIEIN
fRE MR BRR T RIRE S A Bl R

%o

MAENEBEUBREL ZEER
B ®REME TRREER LA -
AARES(EE) MBERAER
BRZBREPELHE - P KRR
b 2 S A MRE R AT HZERE
BB BEMEBEAZEBBRZEA M
BRI LS PIKRE -

REVBRRAFELLEERE -

HE-_Z-_="F+-_A=+—HIF
EZHREVBRERPHEDKIEKLEE
BEBZETEHFEFUEFTSER
B UFEARFREZE2WAFARE
ETERIE o

RECEIRIER AR AT /2024 F 3k
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EVAVAWES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the

Group

The Group has applied the following new
and amended standards, improvements and
interpretation for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2024

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

BE—FE-—pEf - A=F+—HILFE

2. RBMFAIREETESRMBRE

Z A

(a)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

REE RN 2 #7] RAEIETT &
A

AEBER T -mFE—A—8
Bt 2 4 4R 45 HRS E R B AR T
PR RACE AT Mg R B
R’

BEE BESBARE

ERFE1HE HIERD
CHES

BFEER i # 22 RO IR
ERFE1%  BHEE
CHEN

BEMBHRE EREATLMHAE
ERIFE 165 AE
CCHEN

BEAGHER HEMRELH
EATM
BB B ®
H AR
FETER
CCHEN

g RS BT REER S
BYEBEMTE BRI SY
BRI SCR R ERERNTE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—F_F+_-HA=+—HIF&E

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRI RBIETEBHBERE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 28 (%)

(Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and (b) ﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬁ%‘T&%@ﬂ%ﬂiﬁﬂU
interpretations not yet adopted e
The following new and amended standards and DXT%E%T&%{@EI%E\'JEE%E@
interpretations have been published that are not TOAMRM - M E AR S MR
mandatory for the current reporting period and have BORBIER - AAKETERS
not been early adopted by the Group: B

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB GFTERIZE 2158 (IBETAN)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

BEEMBRELNEIRR
ERENBMELNETR

CEHEN),

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

ERVBHRELERE IR K
ERVBHmELENE TR
CEHEN,

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting

Standards — Volume 11
BBV B HEERZFER
2EENRE —F+—1

HKFRS 18
ERMBHmELERIFE 185
HKFRS 19
BB EREERIE 195

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

ERVBHRELENE 105 R
BB G ERIZE 285
(&&TA)

Effective for
annual periods

beginning
on or after
KT AR
ZEBEBRZ
FEHBEX
Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
Bz B —E-RE
—H—H
Amendments to Classification and 1 January 2026
Measurement of Financial Instruments
e ITAEDHERAE B —TRF
—H—H
Amendments to the Contracts Referencing 1 January 2026
Nature-dependent Electricity
BREBERE N 2E K ZIEET —EREF
—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, 1 January 2026
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7
BEMBRELENE 1R (BEIAR) - BS —TREF
S HmEERE 75 (BRI AR) - BEH —A—H
BWEENFEIFR (BFIAR) - HEUH
WELRE 105 (BRI A) REE GG
ERFE 75 (IBFTA)
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027
Statements
BmE 225 RHEE TT 4 F
—H—H
Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 January 2027
Disclosures
EBADREBEMIHMBAR  #%E —EF
—H—A
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
REEREABENANEELE LR FE
BEELEITE

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

In July 2024, HKICPA issued HKFRS 18 which is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. HKFRS 18 introduces significant changes
to the presentation of financial statements, with a
focus on information about financial performance
present in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, which will affect how the
Group present and disclose financial performance
in the consolidated financial statements. The key
changes introduced in HKFRS 18 relate to (i) the
structure of the statement of profit or loss, (ii)
required disclosures for management-defined
performance measures (which are referred to
alternative or non-GAAP performance measures),
and (iii) enhanced requirements for aggregation
and disaggregation of information. The directors of
the Company are currently assessing the impact
of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation and the
disclosures of the consolidated financial statements.

Except from the above, the directors of the
Company have assessed the financial impact
on the Group of the adoption of the above new
standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations. These standards, amendments
and interpretations are not expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions. The
Group is currently revisiting their accounting policy
information disclosures to ensure consistency with
the requirements. The Group intends to adopt the
above new standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretations when they become
effective.

BE_FE_NEf —A=+—HILFEF

2. RMFAREETESRMBRE

%8l ()
(b) 4 5 R4 2 37 3T RASAE3T 22
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RELEAFEISHIIAZEBE
g kiiEmR g6 (B8
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DIRERZHE - ARFEEH
EFHHER BB E LR E
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BEFE -

Lt &SN ARAREEE G
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

Consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’'s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Croup’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

BE_F_mFEr-_A=1—HIFE

EREFTEE

?E%%EA REMBHRERMFEAZEX
SETBERHEIIMT -

b =]
o) N

FRENBEMREEARARTREMNBER
AEETZA=1T—HLMIHRE -
B AR SEEEE %U%EI’]E%"
MASEER 2 EE RG] ZH)E W
FERRSIEBER IIZ%E BER
uAEﬁMZ@j]?Q;EM:@#& Bl &
EHZEREEtIE EXNEEES
WA RN EIR R I%”ﬁfﬂ/ﬁ@:’ (Bn
HERBOREEAZENEY) K
REEHZERHERES -

ERHEE SR AEEEEERE
EREBEAREMBALFAFBENE
BREE NETROHEEEH®E &
ERZRENEARFEARREERE
NATEZERE - TETUAERE -

B R B EEBEAKE 2 H
ERBEA AR - KF B RKZEHIE
ZHEZIERA AR -

& — BT 8 1 B i B Bk KR 4
MEEENHERENAREERE
R M8 2 R RE M EMIREN A
REEEHAEEDHZMEARE
EFEERREZMELREBNEIW
RN AR AR MR R EN G
ME R ERE -

SEARBIRNRS BB RARER
i AE TS o BT;HEE SBRBETRRS
Fﬁiﬁi ENEELRRE REHREBR

Y- B ARIN S HRESE
szﬁ“@) LA B OR B2 7K £% [ P R 4
R R FF — B »
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

HE—F-_pF+—_FA=+—HIFE

3.

EREBER (8)

MEL R (&)

R ERENE AR T LIFHAR
AIE R ARG o JFIE AR
BHEEAVBEIRNR MR A S
RPN e NERA B M EA
2EMEERA FERES 2NN RE
RARFREBAREEE A Z BB F
EiEEAE2HAWEAEDR -

B g EHoF I e IR AL S £
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographic
area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated
plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when
the operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, which comprises the post-tax profit or loss
of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or loss
recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs
of disposal, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

BE—F—

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HKS$. The functional currency of the Group's principal
operating entities is Renminbi. The Directors
consider that choosing HK$ as the presentation
currency best suits the needs of the shareholders
and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting
from this translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

—mEF—A=1—HILFE

EREBER (8)

HEEBRE

(i)

(ii)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

hEER 2 EH

AEBERER CHEMRAMEIA
B IR EFENE EE
REMNEE ([ThEt G DETE -
RAEVBERRABITES - KE
ETELLEERB oML EERA
R - SR HBREBEITIERY
BB RETERERIEEENS

go

EERBMBRRNRE REH

INEZ BRI T HEREIZR S H
HMRTERBE BINREER
NN BB EREEREE
BEREREHROEREE - it
BERRELANBEREE AR

7
o

MONEIR AR BEFENIEEE
HEHRRAEEAAEBEEBME
z%:(jjﬁg °

EHRERHENABNEMEE
Yok ARERR I - "% &L V(T (AT
SEEB oy BIRS E A 2 K 2 ) R
R-BHERHEAMABEBENERD
P HERRES - 5% 2 U8 B (T faT [ 3L &6
DREE R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_—F—

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group's
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Group's presentation currency are translated into
the Group's presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised
in translation reserve. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

V=S SIS TN S{EMIESEE

EREBER (8)

S (&)

(iii)

(iv)

RERENBRE

AEBETHAEYEEEEHR
AEBE2NEBNER  HXE
KR BIRMIRA T TR IBE /AR
SENZ25E%

— BUBRRAKRZINZEE
N BB TR Z M AR R
BElz WhERBRE

— WKXTHRFYEXRBRE (R
FEZFHERIIIFFEAR
%EIHHEEHETE%J?”E“
ZEBEBMOE E%B
T*H&?ZEE‘E@?&%%E
ZERBE) R

— AR MELNERZ

BIONEL FHETER -
REZAKRER  RRENEINE
BIREFENERMELNER

EEHRELFETER - 20

EHINEBE  BEERZER

,angﬁnWﬁEmﬂtﬂ’%%E_EE’J
BB B o

HEBIERRBOHE

HEBIEBE (AILERAKHE
RBINEBN 2R EE
5&&5‘6%%@%5@%%5&5’]5{1?
NEEEGIE  HEEFRKE
HERBIEBNBREAFNE
REEN)  KNREHEE ARZ
EBRERT R ZMAER SR
BEREFNBERGBERK -

RECEIRIER AR AT /2024 F 3k

93



94

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

BE—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment
property is measured initially at its cost including all direct
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is
stated at its fair value based on valuation by an external
independent valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes
in fair value of the investment property are recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined,
or otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease
liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor
Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

BE—F—

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out basis. The cost of finished goods comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to its present location
and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price less further costs expected to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses
with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade and bills receivables or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade and bills receivables)
has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit
losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

BE_FE_NEf —A=+—HILFEF

3.

EREBER (8)

BFHGEEERNEREE

AEBRIZEHEXATIENEREE
MIEHEEBEERERRE - Y
EEBERNETHEEEE B+
A% BB AR O RERERINE -

RERERK  pLEWE ZRANE
WEEHEERRB B RERARD
R EANERIAMS @ NEEE
HEREMITARMFEHAMAE A &
HRHENEHAEENBREERE
BEaBAMARGEBER SR
HEZESRMTANBEERE -

HRBRERAR ERTE(BEES
R REBRERERIN HEERRS
BRFER AR EANE LT AEH
BHEEREDEMEREESED
RERZEBRTARKSHER12EA
WA BEHRMENEHITE LA
EEERBNNER FEZXHETR
TRNEIRRE -

EHEEBR BRI AR REHRE
BREHBEEZMHE S RMIE L AR
TR BEPHERSREREHER -

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference to
the customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

— the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—F_F+_-HA=+—HIF&E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
at the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining
a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

BE_—F—

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based
on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’'s chief operating decision-maker
for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—T_MFE+ - HA=+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

() bhas control or joint control over the Group;

(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(vii)

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

(viii)

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not
yet available for use are reviewed annually for impairment
and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets other than
receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the cost of capital and the associated
risk on a regular basis, and take appropriate actions to
adjust the Group capital structure in a timely manner.

In order to fund the Group's trading business, properties
investment and current development, significant
amounts of capital in the form of borrowing or equity, or
a combination of both, are considered to be necessary
in the future. The Directors such funding for the future
development will be available as and when required.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—F-_pF+—_FA=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised costs

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised
cost (including trade and bills receivables and
deposits and other receivables) are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's
past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and bills
receivables. For trade and bills receivables which
have impaired, the Group assessed individually and
provided for credit losses allowance. If no reasonable
and supportable information is available without
undue cost for expected credit losses measurement,
the trade and bills receivables were grouped by
reference to the credit risk characteristics and
assessed collectively for credit losses allowance.
When measuring expected credit loss, the Group
considers the credit loss experience, ageing of
overdue trade and bills receivables, customers’
repayment history and customers’ financial position,
and adjusts by taking into consideration current
conditions and forward-looking factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets at amortised costs
(Continued)

Changes in assumptions used could materially
affect the fair value of these balances and as a result
affect the Group’s financial condition and results of
operation.

Details of the key assumptions and inputs used for
trade and bills receivables and deposits and other
receivables are disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may
be different.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and selling
expense. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The Group
will reassess the estimates by the end of each
reporting period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective Group’s entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(b) Credit risk

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances,
trade and bills receivables and deposits and other
receivables included in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group's

financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The credit risk on bank and cash balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-

rating agencies.

As at 31 December 2024, in respect of trade and bills
receivables, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk to the extent that approximately
HK$14.9 million (2023: HK$9.0 million) of trade
and bills receivables is attributable by the largest
customer. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at each balance sheet date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts.

B E R EE (F)
(b) FEERE

REMBARRRAPIRERITRIR
TS BRESEINLERER
BA R E K E A WG IR A BR
EE RAKRERESREEM
M bR B & = 5 B R o

A BB E IR AR AR
ABEEESRNESETHE -
RITRBEBEBUERARA
B RESZBHT HEERE
SRR TRIENTR R
7

R-ZE-_WFE+—-_A=+—H0"
MEREZERLEKREZEM
T ASEEBERZEERR
RREZARFPH1498 8
T(ZE-Z=ZF:90EHEBT)
FEWE BEER L EKREE - A%
FEERRBRERE A£EEZX
K—YBBXEEETEERE
EEREREMEIEIRF - AR
RIEREVR #E1TE) Ik Bl i HA B 1 -
gEAN » AEB IR S EEAE
HERSHEEHMAIRE S5 - A
BRERTERDSBRERRE
BEERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE_-ZE_—ME+-A=1+—HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MEBERER(H)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rating;
— external credit rating (if available);

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtor,
including changes in the payment status of
debtor.

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 60 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write-off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the
Group, if practicable and economical, continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover
the receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade and
bills receivables which reflect their credit risk and
how the loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for
each category and adjusts for forward looking data.

BE _—FE_E+_A=+—HIFE

M EEEE ()
(b) FEER (&)

i ERANE NN KEHEBR
0B EERBREHRERD
RIELT - EXHHFRERE
R E HA1% 60 B RPEHRIR
ABemEERLY -

ERMEENAEBRHMEZRD (F
ARFE TR R B R 62 (B 2 ROUE X
FHED M  AREBREERN
&SR A B & #0159 5K 8 H iR 38 360
Ri&KARMEREEYFRIAD 1R
R - i BN EWIRLE
Mss o RIAKE (EERATITR
HEKBRANBERT) S#E
REE I TTITE E SR B 2 5
FEWRIA ©

AEERIFESHENEEES
ERREREES RWIE - AR
DRRREENEERR - AR
REBREEBREMBO L -
R BERBMEEREXE - Af
EeZtEERRNELEREX
W sLATHEE BRI LR -

Category Definition Loss provision

Bl ER EiERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
&%) B AR K& A e 158 12 1B A FE A& 18

Non-performing

TR SERBRARE L

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses

4 Ap B TR A& 18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_FE_NEf —A=+—HILFEF

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and availability of
financial support from controlling shareholder to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

PR b EE ()
(c) RBEZRR

AEENBRREMEEER R
BRRBDESHFE  UERES
FrRIM G REH R EBERAR
B A 75 SRR R B R H S R A Y

TEROMAKEZESHEIHA
BRI IR R AR A SR R A
HRESHEBIRENNERE
B AR BESBEAA KRR
BEERE -

Less than
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years Total
—FH0E E
R BREAT  EBZFUT @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FAT FHER FEL
At 31 December 2024 R-ZBZNF
+=A=+-8
Trade and other payables ERESERR
H it R F0R 43,915 43,915
Amount due to a director ER—REZHE 4,612 4,612
Other borrowings HEtER 5,378
Shareholders' loans REER 1,600
Loans from fellow subsidiaries ~ KERZMBAFZ
B 2,851
Loans from related parties REEBEALZER
48527 10,378
At 31 December 2023 R=B==f
t=A=1-A
Trade and other payables ERESEIR
Hith TR 114,844 - - 114,844
Other borrowings HthER 208,392 - 5,363 213,755
Shareholders' loans REER 11,410 - - 11,410
Loans from fellow subsidiares ~ RERZMEARZ
B 29,570 - - 29,570
Loans from related parties REEBEALZER 3,887 - - 3,887
368,103 - 5,363 373,466
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
and liabilities other than cash at banks (2023: cash
at banks, other borrowings, shareholders’ loans,
loans from fellow subsidiaries and loans from related
parties).

The Directors consider the Group's exposure of the
bank balances to cash flow interest rate risk is not
significant as the interest rate fluctuation on bank
balances is minimal and the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in interest rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s other
borrowings, shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow
subsidiaries and loans from related parties bore fixed
interest rates which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. As at 31 December 2024, all other
borrowings, shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow
subsidiaries and loans from related parties were non-
interest bearing. Management considers the fair
value interest rate risk is insignificant to the Group.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy in relation to interest rate risks.
The directors monitor the Group's exposure on an
ongoing basis and will consider hedging interest rate
risk should the need arise.

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

6.

B E R EE ()
(d) Rk

BRIBITHES (T =4 R17T
Be EMER BREEF X
BRZRMNBARZERRKRESE
BEBEATZEF) I REBRL
BEAGHEEERBE-

EERR ARRITHEBR AR
RENRGY - B AR BH YA KK
ERSREAMEB IR =
B UL AR B 2 SRIT A BRPT A
EZRERENERBILTERX °

RZZEZ=F+=A=+—8"
AEEMHMER  BREER
RKEBEMBRARZERERK
BEEBMEATIZERNETEF
KB WMASEBEBALER
FERR HN_ZE-_WF+=A
=+—H FIBEEMER BKE
B - RBRRMBRARIZER
kKRB EBEALZEZFHAT
R BEERAEAABENEK
EREAEEMELTEKX - A
it W EEIT R E D AT o

ZRER 18 B AT LA R E R B E
ERMEEHBEK - EEGIHE
ERAKEZRAR EEFER
KaE e P A EER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_-FE_MF+_-A=1+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MEBERER(H)

(e) Categories of financial instruments (e)

Financial assets ERMEE

Financial assets at amortised BEEK AR ESREE
cost (including cash and cash (BREESARSEEY)
equivalents)

Financial liabilities A=K

Financial liabilities at amortised cost X # 8 ANFIBRA© B & (&

(f) Fair values (f)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

1 1 8 ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

R ITHESE

2024 2023
—E-mEF B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F# T FET

186,777

360,342

DREE
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BeREEEMARKAER
HEBNRAREERS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_ZF_F+_-A=1+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use
a fair value hierarchy that categories into three levels the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

DIREEFE

ARNBEKEMTSLEERFTEAD
ETZBEFRSH R EEEIE
KB ERBEAN ZEAR - T
BRAREERRAENR(EE
HZMERNPRAUGEAAEBED
BABIEY S=EER

F-RBABE AREEXAGBRN
BRI RE CREFHE) -

F_RBABE  BFE - LERENRK
BUASH BEEXBBEAERKBEZE
EEHHBABE -

F=MBABE BEXAEBENTA
BRm ARE -

AEENBRBNELEHERNSE
BN BB E B R = EE R EE
AR EH -

(a) RZE-WE+=-A=+—H
MAREBEBRKE

Fair value measurements using:

ERAATERTENAAEE:

December 2023:
Level 1
Description B E—R
HK$'000
TERT
Recurring fair value REMEDIAREETE:
measurements:
Investment properties REME
Commercial — PRC EA-PE

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, there were no transfer between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.

Level 2 Level 3 Total
-t 1] E=8 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FTERT TERT

94,118 94,118

(EZE_NMFERE-=F
+-A=+—HIFE F—#&
EAZE AR o I e RN
FoREAREL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_-FE_MF+_-A=1+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREEFTEE)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) ME=ZRMAREBEFEZEE
based on level 3 ¥R
Investment
properties
Commercial
Description Bt — PRC
BREYE
A —
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-_NME—-H—H 94,118
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss REZER 2 AABEEE (14,611)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 15(b)) HEM B AR (M7t 15(0b) (79,906)
Exchange difference EHREZX 399
At 31 December 2024 R-EBE-NFE+=-A=+—H
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—F—H 126,434
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss*  RIEZERZ A EEEE* (28,943)
Exchange difference PE H =58 (3,373)
At 31 December 2023 R-_E-_=%+-_HA=+—H 94,118
*Include losses for assets held at the end of * BIERNMEHRFTIFEE
reporting period &8 (28,943)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREEFE(E)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the (c) XEEMERAKERFRAR
Group and valuation techniques and inputs EESEMEANGERTR
used in fair value measurements WMABBHEE
The Board is responsible for the fair value EEERAENBRERMERNE
measurements of assets and liabilities required for ENBEZAREAENE  BRE
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair F=RAAEEGFE-
value measurements.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will ME=-RAAEBEFEMS + &
normally engage external valuation experts with the SERFREAGRAUEEER
recognised professional qualifications and recent A B R A SNER (B R R LA E
experience to perform the valuations. 1T1H1E -
The following table gives information about how TR MAEEREBRRZAAN
the fair values of the Group's investment properties BEFENRENENRAEE
carried at fair value are determined. BBk} o
Level 3 fair value measurements E=ZRAREETE
Effect on Fair value
fair value as at
Valuation Unobservable forincrease 31 December
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2023
RZBZZ=%
BABBEM +=A
HARER =t-A2
Bt EER TUBEEHAYE gE 02 AREE
HK$'000
TET
Investment Term and Estimated rental value RMB8.4 to RMB81 Increase 94,118
properties — PRC  reversionary (per sq.m. and per
method month)
RENE-+E FHREENE fMAHHetHE AR¥84RE &0
- biib (B¥AKRREBA) AR¥81T
Long term vacancy rate 5% to 20% Decrease
REZEXR 5% £20% "
Discount rate 2.5% to 3.5% Decrease
BRE 25%%Z3.5% HD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors, who are chief operating decision-
maker (the “CODM") of the Group, review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on reports reviewed by the
executive Directors that are used to make strategic
decisions.

On 26 September 2024, the Group completed the
disposal of the entire equity interests in EECIHK and
EEML. The whole properties investment business is
engaged by the Disposal Group. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the results of the properties investment
segment are presented as discontinued operations in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations”. As such, the financial
performance of the properties investment segment was
no longer presented separately.

The CODM regard the Group's sale of materials business
as a single operating segment and review consolidated
financial statements accordingly. As the Group has only
one operating segment qualified as reporting segment
under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”, no separate
segmental analysis is presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

BE-F-mE I A=+ —ALFE

8.

2 EHER

HTESE(AAKE T BEERR
E(XREERRE))) EHAKHE
ZAEHmE - AFERRRDEER °
EREERBNITESMEMNANED
REEMERR 2 MERTELEDH

RZEZ_WNFAAZFT B KXEE
Tk & & EECIHK & EEML 2 & &6 i
o -BEMEREEKHIEEEESR
EoHE_E-_WF+-_A=+—H
HFEE RBEEBVBHREERESD
FIFEHEZIERDEEREKRIE
KEER] MEREDBZEER
BB R ILEERR - At MER
BRI RRTIBEILET -

TBLEBRRERAKE ZHENH
EBRE—REDE  WERILFELR
BB HRE AR AKERA —EL
ENRHEERESBEWHHREEL
FOWIEEDBIHT 2RED
Hitsra B HRRAEZ5BL 2 5
B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

BE_—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about geographical areas:

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group's revenue from external customers by location of
the delivery destination of the goods was solely from the
operation on the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, the non-financial assets
classified as non-current assets amounted to
approximately HK$94,118,000 and HK$21,000 are located
in the PRC and Hong Kong, respectively.

Revenue individually generated from the following
customers contributed more than 10% of the total
revenue from continuing operations of the Group:

—mE+ = A=+ — AR

8.

2 EER (&)
BEEHEZER :

HE_ZT-_NMFER-ZT-=F+=A
=+ —HIEFE AEBRZRERRN
BoHEl D 2 NS B P AE R B F
BT o

RZEZ=F+ZRA=+—H"
NERBIERDEEZIIEEREEY
94,118,000 7T & 21,0007 7T 7 Bl AL
R R &EFE -

KB PAT & P (8 B YA G AN SR B 2R
BRELEXE 2 BBA10% AL :

2024 2023
—E-UE —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Sale of materials business segment 5 & #1 B #3535

Customer A BEPEA 125,796 —*
Customer B =FB 49,269 —¥

Customer C BFEC 80,823

Customer D =FED 59,372

Customer E =FE 58,813

Customer F BPF 54,953
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the * MHEHBAL R EAERBBAD10%

total revenue of the Group.

AL e

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ma M BRRMEE (])

For the year ended 31 December 2024

9.

BE—F—

REVENUE

S(HREACZ S = AN AS e

9.

Continuing operations HEREER

Revenue from contracts with ERP&AEHBA
customers

— Sale of materials — HEMR

PN
2024 2023
—E-E TECZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
(restated)
(F&E5)
461,848 530,328

All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised
at a point in time.

Sales of materials

The Group sells building materials to its customers.
Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of
30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days). For new customers,
deposits or cash on delivery may be required.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered to the customers as this is the point in time
that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

PIBERF A KRAS R — i 6 3

e

HEMR

AEERBEPHEREME - EE®
MIZHEEE R (MERRINTERP
) BESiEA e ERPEXE
mARBITEEALREFEERERN
BEFTBRER  BRHEE -

AEFPZHE - REEHRI0EW
EI(_7__¢ 30E90H) ° gt
BEFME @ AlREBRIRERNEEINK o

EH&%\IEE/\E%X1—J.%%jEHTEEWU'
B — 2 - Rz B HE AR
e 80 - BUBCER B R AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—T_MFE+ - HA=+—HIFFE

11.

10. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 10. HM AR K=
2024 2023
—E-mF —T-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
(restated)
(FE3)
Continuing operations HEREER
Sundry income MW A 34
Gain on discount of other borrowings £ b & ZX 8518 Ye 2k (M1 7£ 26)
(Note 26) 1,554
1,588
INTEREST INCOME 1. FEWA
2024 2023
—E-NF —T-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(restated)
(@)
Continuing operations BHEKEXEY
Bank interest income RITH B A 267
Loan interest income (note) BERFEWA (Hat) -
267
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided Mat - BE_T-_NF+_A=+—HILFE
loans to third parties with an aggregate principal amount of AEBRAFE=ZFTRHELASLEAARKE
RMB8,000,000, bearing an annual interest rate of 8%. These loans 8,000,000 Tt 2 EX  FFIE B8% %
principal has been fully repaid during the year. ZERETSERFABHEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

12. FINANCE COSTS

BE—FE-—pEf - A=F+—HILFE

12.

Continuing operations

Interest expenses on

— Shareholders’ loans

— Loans from fellow subsidiaries

— Loans from related parties

Unwinding interest of discount
on other borrowings

FRSEXEY
AT &REOFEFHX

— BRREX

— RERRMBRFZER
—REEBEEALZER
H i BRI 2 B @A 2
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2024
—EMME
HK$'000
FET

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FATT
(restated)

(BE5)

24
31
87

140

282



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

13.

BE_—F—

—mE+ = A=+ — AR

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting) the following:

Continuing operations
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Exchange loss/(gain), net
Rental expenses related to
short-term leases
Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments)
— Salaries, allowances and
other benefits
— Retirement benefit scheme
contributions
— Social insurance

13.
222Gl
— 2Bk
— JFZBURTS
EhFERA
WME - BEMRBITE
PE &R, (as) R
FHEHEE 2 HERX
BEIXRA(BRESMHE)

— e R MEAMET

— RKAEF

— &R

AT &R

BRATEBLAT (B 1R), i F

AEE BB (BR), EMNEN
B/ (GEA) TFI5E -

2024
—E-NF
QLG
FEx

1,080
112
427,497

2023
=

—=

HK$'000
FAET
(restated)

(&E5)

1,180
880
490,258

(131)

354

5,205

91
204

5,500
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. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE_-ZE_—ME+-A=1+—HIFFE

. BB X

2024 2023
el —To—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
(restated)

(BE5)

Continuing operations BERSEER
Current income tax BVHAPT 1S 571

— The PRC Enterprise Income Tax ~ — B MEFTER
Over-provision of prior years BEFEEERE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax — BHENER

9,631

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong for the year, except for one
group entity operating in Hong Kong which is a qualifying
corporate under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.
For the qualifying group entity, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at the rate of 8.25% (2023:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25%
for a subsidiary in the PRC on its assessable profits during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

EBNEGHIIRAFEERESEED
ﬁﬁE%Mmﬂ&M$m5%_q
Z=F 1 16.5%) FHREE AR
BBKENEEE ST ST MR AR G
MNEBREERIIN -EEREERE
BEms TR EFNNE28EET
B E825% (ZE =4 :8.25%)
B e T ERR R A B R F R
16.5% (ZE =% : 16.5%) #F -

HE-_Z-_NFE-_ZT=_=F+=A8
=+—HIEFE FBEMBARZH
XFGH I ERERN G MR E
25% FTHE s o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax on the Group's (loss)/profit before tax
from continuing operations differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the tax rate applicable to
profit of the consolidated entities is as follows:

BE _—FE_E+_A=+—HIFE

14. FEHEX< ()

AEEREBELEEB 2B
(BB, Mz EHEaRAERAR
FEERRMNCBEFE 2 Ewme R
ZERBEMAT

2024 2023
—E_UEF —_EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(restated)
(Fe&E%)
(Loss)/profit before tax REFECEER 2BRBLA
from continuing operations (E518),/ %= 7 (61,590) 27,405
Tax calculated at the domestic tax =& apE
rate in the respective countries FTE A (7,892) 7,784
Tax effect of: WTIEB Z2MBEEE
— income not subject to tax and — BARBARAA]
expenses not deductible MR 14,571 1,747
— tax losses not recognised — RERHIAEE 145 -
— over-provision in prior years — B FERERE - (10)
Income tax expense FrgRiR 9,621

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of unrecognised tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profits streams from respective entities within
the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the unrecognised
tax losses to be carried forward against future taxable
income amounted to approximately HK$63.2 million (2023:
HK$62.8 million). Tax losses amounting to approximately
HK$0.7 million (2023: HK$0.3 million) will expire at various
dates up to and including year of 2029 (2023: 2028), the
remaining tax losses of approximately HK$62.5 million
(2023: HK$62.5 million) have no expiry date.

HREZEALAEBRNSEENKR
o F SR - B0 A B R e 52 A 18 B
BRRECEHBEE RT_MF
+ZA=Z=+—H KERREBEEEY
BI2EEBT(ZE-=%:628A
BB IEERANEINRRERT
WA - 2BH07TEEAL(ZTE ==
F:03EEAL)NMBEBERRE
EVBEEZE-_NF(ZE_=F:
ZEZ)N\F)NEEREBER - Fe
MIEEEN2EERL(ZE 2=
F:626E8 L) EDEA -

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z =%

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 22 July 2024, the Group entered into two sale and
purchase agreements, with an independent third party for
the disposal of (i) the entire issued shares of EECIHK at
a consideration of HK$1; and (ii) the entire issued shares
of EEML at a consideration of HK$1. The Disposal Group
represents the whole properties investment business of
the Group, the Group's properties investment business
would be discontinued upon completion of the disposal of
the Disposal Group.

The disposal of the Disposal Group was completed in
September 2024.

The above disposal constituted a discontinued operation
under HKFRS 5, and accordingly, properties investment
business are reported in the current period as discontinued
operations.

SRR 5= A AEINE RIS

15.

ERIEEEXEZERHENEQF

R-ZE-_WF+A-+=-H AEE
B—Z2BYFE A UMNEEH
& ARE1B T H EEECIHK 2
BETRD  RAKEB1BTHE
EEMLZ2 BTk - HESER
RASBEAYEREEY MASE
EMEREERBREEEB 2 H
EEREBRIEEE o

HESEZHEER =
FERK °

—mFENA

FREEBREBMBRELELES
AT ZERUEREERR  BHit - ¥

Loss after income tax from
discontinued operations (Note 15(a))
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 15(b))

BRI ETE 2 BRATS &
B 18 (127 15(a))
&M B A RIS (Kt 15(b))

Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operations

swm ), (& 1E)

ERIEREXHZFE

XEAXRGRABRER/ER L
BRE-

2024 2023

SECF p——

HK$'000 HK$'000

TRER TAT

(26,278) (42,170)

78,477 -

(42,170)

130
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

Financial performance and cash flow
information on discontinued operations

Analysis of the financial performance and cash flow
information on the discontinued operations is set out

15.

ERIEEEXREREENEQF
(%)

(a)

below:

Revenue LON

Cost of sales FI=R=ID@iN

Gross profit EX

Other income and gains = AN

Administrative and TR RS ERS
operating expenses

Interest income F 2 WA

Fair value loss on investment BEMELARBEERE

properties
Impairment loss on trade and
other receivables, net

A B 5 BRI EL A R W

FIE R R 1R H AR

Loss from operation from
discontinued operations

ERLEEEREKERHE

Finance costs A& K AR

Loss before income tax from BRIEREER
discontinued operations BRAETISBATE B

Income tax expense Fris R

Loss after income tax from BRIEREER 2
discontinued operations MRATBHEER

Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEE
translation of foreign operations PE H Z=&E

CERIESEXER 2MBRAR
ReRhBER

ERIEREXRB W BRALR
EREERDNEIIMT

Properties investment business

MEREEK
2024 2023
—E-NE T =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
1,176
1,176
15
(986) (2,567)
- 1
(14,611) (28,943)
(133)
(15,343) (30,451)
(10,935) (11,719)
(26,278) (42,170)
(42,170)
1,854

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z =%

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL

OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

—mE+= A=+ —HIEEE

Financial performance and cash flow

information on discontinued operations

(Continued)

15.

ERIEEEXERRHEREQF
(%)

ERIEEERBCMBRARK
Ren8&Es (&)

(a)

Properties investment business

Exchange differences reclassified
to profit or loss upon disposal of
subsidiaries

Other comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year from
discontinued operations

Cash flows from discontinued
operations

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Exchange difference on
cash and cash equivalents

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

MEREEK
2024 2023
—E-OEF —EBE-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
HEWBRAREERN
DHEEEHECEN =R
BRIEEEEBECEE
Hib2m (FE)
(7,499) 1,854
ERIEEREERCESRE
K EBTSIRE F5E
67
BeMBEESEEBYZ
[E X =% _
Re MR SEYILEINFRE
67
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

An analyses of gain on disposal of subsidiaries is as
follows:

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

15. %ﬁtﬁ%%iﬁ&ﬂj%ﬁ#@ﬁﬂ
IIE

(b) HEHELQF WS
HEMBARKESITAT

EECIHK EEML
Group Group Total
EECIHK £ 8 EEML&E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THET

21 21
79,906 79,906
131,633 131,633
81 87
(258,950) (259,303)
(83,223) (83,224)
(198,132) (198,132)

Total consideration satisfied by: BRENTHAAER
Cash consideration BeR(E
Property, plant and equipment 0% BEREE
Investment properties REME
Deposits and other receivables e REMEYNEE
Bank and cash balances BORREHH
Amounts due to the Group T ALEFE
Trade and other payables ERNESRIREMENTIE
Other borrowings HiER
Net liabilities disposed of BHEABTE
Release of foreign currency BRRINEAE R
translation reserve
Waiver of balances with ReRNESE &R (HH)

the Disposal Group (Note i)

(328,658) (329,012)

(9,066) (8,768)

258,950 259,303

(297) 78,774 18471

Gain on disposals HEWE

(297) 78,774 18,471

Note:

(i) Under the sale and purchase agreements, the Group agreed
to waive the current account balances with the Disposal
Group upon the completion of the disposal.

Capital reserve of approximately HK$19,980,000
were released to the accumulated losses of the
Group upon the completion of disposal of the
Disposal Group. Such release of reserve was not
included in the gain on disposal as those equity
accounts were arising from transactions with the
owners of the company.

Brat

i REEEHZ AEERBENH
EEElot S Eeh i tulF S P ACN
IR

B AR #%9 19,980,000 % 7T E 7
HESE 2 HETKRB LIRS
Bz 25HEE - RN RS ERR
B EEAREEANETR SN
EE REREERETNERE
EHEKEA

BEEBRRERERAR /202455 133
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_-FE_MF+_-A=1+—HILFE

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(c) Net cash outflow on disposal

Analysis of net cash outflow arising from the
disposal:

Cash consideration received BEYReRE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of 2 HEE S KB E(EN

w.agtﬁ%%ﬁ&m%mﬁﬁﬁ

(c) HENZRERHFR

HEELZRERHBFEIMN -

EECIHK EEML
Group Group Total
EECIHK £ /8 EEML&E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THET

(87) (87)

(87)

* Amount less than HK$1,000
16. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or declared for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

* S EAR1,000 BT
16. IRE
TEREE_ZE_NF+_A=+—

HIEFERNHEREMKRSE (ZF
T=F )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ_—Z

17. (LOSS)/EARNING PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic

—EEF= A=+ —HIEEE

17. B8R (BE) &R

(a)

Basic (loss)/earning per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of
the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023.

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earning per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based

on the following data:

(Loss)/profit for the year KRRHE AEBIEREE
attributable to the owners (B18) &F (FE1T)
of the Company (HK$°000)
— Continuing operations — BEREER
— Discontinued operations — BRI ER
Weighted average number of EETERRINE T
ordinary shares in issue (FAR)
(thousand shares)
Diluted (b)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
diluted (loss)/earning per share is the same as basic
loss per share as there was no potential dilutive

ordinary shares in existence.

&R

BREAX (BR) BNREE
“ECNFER-FE_=F+_H
=t —HEFEZARBERA
FE1E (BB, e FIR AR BT
BAINEFHGETH -

ARBFEAANCBESRER (B
18),/BATRATEIEE -

2023

—E-=
(76,602) 6,420
52,199 (42,170)
(35,750)
1,061,962 542,392

B8

BEZ-_WEE=-_FT=-=
TZA=1T—HIEFE  #HRIL
(E518), /B EgREAREIEME
A o

BEEBRRERERAT /202455 135
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_-FE_MF+_-A=1+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. W% - BMERR®E

Computer
equipment Office
and software equipment Total
BERRER
B BLERB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FAT
COST A
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F—-F—H 83 184 267
Exchange difference EHER - 2) 2)

At 31 December 2023 and

W-_E-=%+-fA=+-H

1 January 2024 k=—F-mE-A—H 182
Written-off WH (111)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 75(b)) HERB AR (A2 150) (63)
Exchange difference EHER (2)

At 31 December 2024

R-Z-ME+-A=t-H

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 2 ERAE

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F-A-H 83 161 244
Charge for the year FRZH - 1 1
Exchange difference EHER - (1) (1)

At 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 RZZ-ME-H—H
Written-off i 84
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 75(b)) HEME QA (M 150)
Exchange difference EHER

WZ_E-=F+-fA=+-H

At 31 December 2024

RZE-NF+-A=1+—H

NET BOOK AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2024

RERE
R-F_MF+-A=1—H

At 31 December 2023

W-E-=F+-A=1+—H - 21 21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—T_MFE+ - HA=+—HIFFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19.

At fair value RAREE

At 1 January ®n—H—HB

Change in fair value (Note 15(a)) NABEES (K5 15(a)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 15(b)) &M &R (K15t 15(b))
Exchange difference MEHER

At 31 December Rt+=-—A=+—H

REWE

2024 2023

—EZmEF ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
126,434
(28,943)
(3,373)
94,118

The estimated aggregate fair value of investment
properties as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$94.1 million which has been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an
independent professional valuer.

Note:

Rental income of approximately HK$286,000 (2023: HK$1,176,000) was
recognised in profit or loss from discontinued operations for investment
properties during the year ended 31 December 2024 (Note 15(a)).

REMEGBFARNEBERER_-Z
=+ A=T—HHAEMUIEE
BT B%ﬁéé&%iﬁ%fﬁfﬁaﬂwﬂﬁ
TEEMARARETHHEMSH -

Kt

BE-_Z-_MF+-_A=+—HILtFE K&
Y22 AL286,000F T (ZTE_=4F:
1,176,000 7)) E R B H & ¥ I8 g
R (FFFE15(a) °

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_-FE_MF+_-A=1+—HILFE

20. SUBSIDIARIES 20. B AT
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 RZEZNE+ZA=+—H K&
December 2024 are as follows: BrEXEWNBRRZHBWOT :
Percentage of
Place of Particulars of equity attributable Principal activities and
Name incorporation paid up capital to the Company  place of operation
£ gz ADEEN
Frizit, BEREXER EREAl TEXERCE Y
Direct Indirect
B CiF
I
Enviro Energy Management Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Provision of management
Services Limited e 1B services in Hong Kong
REEERBERRA REBREEE RS
Hangzhou Junheng Building the PRC RMB500 million - 60%  Trading of building
Materials Company Limited F AREBOEETL materials in the PRC
(“Hangzhou Junheng") NN
Mg EErERRA (RN
* All the PRC-incorporated subsidiaries are limited liability companies. * FERFEEMKIHOMBARNY AE
The English names of certain subsidiaries represent the best effort REFAAR -BETHBRABMNKEXETHE
by the Group’s management to translate their Chinese names, as AAEEEEERERABNFELFX
these subsidiaries do not have official English names. EEAB REAAZSEWEBARILEILE
HEXHTE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

BE _—FE_E+_A=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

20. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20. B AR (&)
Set out below are the summarised financial information of —!_t%:??ﬁﬁ” —ME %jﬁ ?ﬁfﬁfrﬁ$% 1]
a subsidiary that has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) that BB i'z_*ﬁﬁﬂﬂ 2 ﬁﬁ( HEFEEEHE
are considered material to the Group. The summarised zgiiquj%%gﬁj?:jiﬁfiffﬁgﬁgg'gﬁ%
financial information represents amounts before inter- FHEL SR IR0 2 WIS SR AT 2 R
company eliminations.
Hangzhou Junheng
U U 1
2024 2023
—EmEF —T-=
Principal place of business/country of == Z & 32 FEfAK L The PRC The PRC
incorporation EX i H
% of ownership interests/voting rights FE4% % # 25 Fr A e M 25 40%/40% 40%/40%
held by NCI Bt/ HENHRER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 31 December: R+=—B=+-—8:
Summarised assets and liabilities ZERESGEHME
Current assets MBEE 105,784 91,878
Current liabilities nBEE (47,523) (52,388)
Net assets BEFE 58,261 39,490
Accumulated NCI ZEHIEEAR R 15,796
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—HLEE:
Summarised financial results MEEENE
Revenue WA 461,848 528,876
Profit for the year FE A 20,471 28,660
Other comprehensive income HEfb 2w (1,700) (440)
Total comprehensive income >HEKZBRE 28,220
Profit allocated to NCI DR FE I IR R 2 A 5 11,464
Dividend paid to NCI AT T IR AR R AR B -
Summarised cash flows REeREBE
Net cash generated from operating & /ZHFTFIR S F5
activities 10,275 18,896
Net cash generated from investing REESMBHAEFE
activities 267
Net increase in cash and cash He KRS EEYILNFEE
equivalents 10,275 19,163

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For

21

22.

the year ended 31 December 2024 B E_—ZT_NF+-A=1+—HIFFE

F90H) 5 -

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

. INVENTORIES 21. ®&
2024 2023
el —To—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Merchandise — Construction o — MR
materials 16,229
TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22. EWESRIARERERE
2024 2023
il —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables EUE ZERR 45,257 34,389
Bills receivables W R 1% 8,190 -
34,389
Less: Provision for impairment loss ~ J& : J8 (B &5 18 B 1 (6,058)
28,331
The Group' credit terms to trade debtors range generally AEEERTEZEBANEER K
from 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days). NTFII0HEVH(ZZE=_=F:30H



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—T_MFE+ - HA=+—HIFFE

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables as at
the end of reporting period, based on invoice date, is as

follows:

22.

ERWE Z R R ERREE (F&)

RBEEHR REZZAH2EKE
R MM REZREDITANT

2024
—ENE
HK$000
FET

Within 30 days 30HK
31-60 days 31HE60H
61-90 days 61 HE90H
91-120 days 91THZE120H

121-365 days

121 H%®365H

Movements of loss allowance for trade and bills

receivables are as follows:

2023
—E-=4F
HK$'000
AT

4,821
6,576
6,053
2,179
8,702

28,331

B ZEA N EREREEREE

EEpm s

2024
—EME
HK$'000
FExT

6,058

(4,791)
(1,102)
(165)

At 1 January R—H—H
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR
Written-off T 58

Exchange differences bE =58

At 31 December R+—A=+—H

2023
=

—_— =

HK$'000
THETT

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

BE—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2024

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

—mEF+ = A=+ — AR

22. EWE Z RS

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS
9 to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade and bills receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, trade and bills
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected
credit losses also incorporate forward looking information.

AR EWRE (&)

AEERBEEVH RS ENF IR
BTN 2B EZRBREEBEEL

BiE BAARWE SRR LERE
ERA LS ifﬂﬁﬁfﬁiﬁﬁ}éﬂaﬁ{ﬁ V23N
EEMEEEE RKBESHRANE

H&?&%E*ﬁ%%lﬁ%%ﬁkﬁﬁ%%&&?@
HBE B - BHREEERITEEA
HEIEEH -

Over 365
1-30days  31-60 days  61-90 days days
Current past due past due past due past due Total
0 ol fal-i ol it
12308 31Z60F 61F90F #iB365A @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TER TER TER TEn
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-ME+=f=1-A
Weighted average expected loss rate JIET 5B HEEE 0% N/A 0% N/A N/A 0%
TER TER TER
Receivable amount (HK$000) RlsE (TET) 39,248 - 14,199 - - 53,447
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BRAE(TAT) - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=ET-A=T-H
Weighted average expected loss rate JIET 5B HEEE 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 18%
Receivable amount {HK$'000) WS (TAT) 16,365 2179 6,059 3,728 6,058 34,389
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BRAE(TET) - - - - (6,058) (6,058
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—T_MFE+ - HA=+—HIFFE

23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. B¢ FENREREMGERIE
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
ikl —TC—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deposits Ee 36
Prepayments for purchase of building B B @5 # & 2 Fa {4 508
materials 4,048
Other receivables E b fE YURIE 709
Less: loss allowance of other A HAth R U R IE
receivables o) SEikELc (15)
Other tax recoverables E b AT Y2 B 75 18 2,717
Consideration receivable from disposal H& DB A IEHEEE
of assets classified as held for sale U (B 47,243
Less: loss allowance of consideration J& : HE D FEARFIELES
receivable from disposal of assets BERKAKE
classified as held for sale ET B (761)
Consideration receivable from HEREERIKE
disposal of investment properties 84,550
Less: loss allowance of consideration Ji : H &R E ¥ ¥ E UL
receivable from disposal of REBERE
investment properties (649)
137,878
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Trade payables (note (i)

Accrued liabilities
Other payables
Received in advance
Interest payable

BE—FE-—pEf - A=F+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24.

eI 5 8RR (BT 72 (1)
FEFT AR

H A & 3RIR
B R IR

78

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

BN E SRR EtEARE

2024 2023
—E_E —F—-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

35,277 30,976

8,270 13,770

48,598

715

21,500

115,559

Note:

(i) The amounts are repayable according to normal credit terms of 30
to 60 days (2023: 30 to 60 days).

The ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of reporting
period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

it -

(i BHARERE —REEE30RAE0H (=
T4 :30HE60R)EE-

REBERR RERRAHRZENES

Within 30 days
30-60 days
61-90 days
91-120 days
121-365 days
Over 365 days

30ER

30H %60 H
61HZ90 H
91TH=120 H
121 HZE 365 H
365 HIA L

R BRER DT T -
2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FT
11,030
9,448
737
5,540
3,749
472
30,976
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances
represent the receipt in advance from customers in sale
of material business. The Group recognised the following
revenue-related contract liabilities:

Contract liabilities AHEE

25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

BHEE

RZEBE-_WNFR T -_=F+_A
=+ —B ZEEXRARHEEME X
BHEWEFARIE - AEERZAT

HWABBENEGHEE
2024 2023
—E_MEF i
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
9,443 5,760

Contract liabilities for sales of goods contract have
increased by approximately HK$3,683,000 due to an
increase in overall contract activities (2023: HK$5,760,000).

Year ended 31 December

HET-_A=T—RHILFE

ERHEAYNEAHNEEREREY
vE B 1% N0 58 Hn 4 3,683,000 7T (=
L~ =4 : 5,760,000/ 7T) °

2024 2023

—E-NEF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FHET

Revenue recognised that was
included in the contract liabilities
balances as at beginning of the year

RERRA A

FOEREFTAGHAR

Due to the short-term nature of the related sales
contracts, the entire contract liabilities balance at year-end
would be recognised into revenue in the next period. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to those unsatisfied contracts which have an original
expected duration of one year or less is not disclosed.

HREREESNMERNEE - FX
E2HANAEAERERN T —HRER
BN - EEBUBEREERFE 155
RAHANBAT  DEEREHHRS
—FHATHZEREBTANNRS
BT THE -

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

26. OTHER BORROWINGS

Non-current
Other borrowings — unsecured

FRE
H At &5 — E R

BE—FE-—pEf - A=F+—HILFE

Current
Other borrowings — secured

wE
Hiy &5 — A EH

26. HEX
2024 2023
—E-_MEF —ZT—=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FATT
(Note (i) 3,949
(K1t )
(Note (i) 196,682

(H 3£ (i)

Note:

(i)

In September 2023, the Company and an independent third party
entered into a loan facility agreement pursuant to which the
independent third party agreed to grant a maximum loan amount of
RMB10 million to the Company, which is interest-free, unsecured
and repayable in December 2026. As at 31 December 2024, the
Company has drawn down the loan amount of RMB5.0 million
(2023: RMB5.0 million) (equivalent to approximately HK$5.38
million).

At the date of initial recognition of the drawdown loan, the
Directors determined that, based on the applicable prevailing
market interest rate of approximately 12.1%, the fair value of the
drawdown loan amounted to approximately HK$3.81 million and
recognised a one-off gain on discount of approximately HK$1.55
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The carrying amount of the entire loan was classified as non-
current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

it -

(i)
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RZEZ=FNA ARaHBIE=
FEAINERBERZE B BIE=
FREAAAFTBRLEESERSEAR
BI0BEE T ZEXARE - EHA
FEAR_ZFE-_RF+_AEE - N_ZF
“MFE+-A=+—H " AQABIEM
BEREHEARB0EEL(ZT =4
ARKS0BE L) (HERA538EHEE
JT) ©

RERDERNPHERBE  EEH
ERBEAMNBITIMENEL121%
e DRIEFRNAAEELA3.8
BEAL UREBEE-_Z-_=F+_-A8
=T —HIEFERRA - RMERBRKELD
155 BH BB °

2HEFRNEAER _Z_NFEFR_F
T=E+ - A=+—BNEAUBRR
KoHEAFRBERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

26. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(ii)

As at 31 December 2023, the other borrowings are dominated in
RMB and are secured by the Group's investment properties, which
have a carrying amount of approximately HK$94.1 million.

Prior to March 2020, the Group's subsidiaries, namely Huan Neng
International Trading (Yingkou) Company Limited (the "HNYK")
and Liaoning Taogibao Mall Management Co. Ltd. (the “Liaoning
Taogibao"), had certain loans and accrued interests with a bank
in the PRC (the “Bank”). In March 2020, the Bank assigned the
entire rights to the loans and relevant accrued interests owed by
the HNYK and Liaoning Taogibao at an aggregate consideration
of approximately RMB166.6 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$182.4 million) (the “Debt Receivables A") to an independent
third party (the “Lender A"). Subsequently, in August 2020,
Lender A assigned the entire rights to the Debt Receivables
A at an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB176.8
million (equivalent to approximately HK$216.3 million) to another
independent third party (the “"Lender B”). The Group then
entered into a loan agreement with the Lender B of approximately
RMB176.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$210.0 million)
for a period of three years at a fixed rate of 5% per annum, with
interest payable annually. In June 2021, the Lender B and the
Group entered into an interest waiver agreement, pursuant to
which the Lender B agreed to waive the right to collect interest
on other borrowings from 18 August 2020 to 31 December 2021,
resulting in a gain on waiver of interest of other borrowings of
approximately HK$8.7 million during the year ended 31 December
2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group was indebted to Lender
B totalling approximately RMB176.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$216.3 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received
a civil judgment dated 9 June 2022 under case no. (2021) Liao
08 Min Chu no.656, pursuant to which the Bank claimed against
Lender A, the HNYK, the Liaoning Taogibao and other defendants
for the repayment of outstanding loans and interests due to
defaulting on the loan agreements between the Bank and Lender
A (the "Dispute Loan Agreements”) in March 2022. According to
the civil judgement, it was adjudged that other defendants, being
the financial guarantors under the Dispute Loan Agreements, as
well as the HNYK and Liaoning Taogibao are obliged to repay the
relevant outstanding loans and interests upon Lender A defaulting
on the Dispute Loan Agreements due to the fact that Lender
A pledged the rights to Debt Receivables A to the Bank for the
Dispute Loan Agreements.

EomFEF—A=1+—HIFE

26.

Hib &K

Hfat -

(ii)

( i | )

(&)

W-ZE_=F+"A=+—B HEME
FTUARBFELHAEE ZRENE
FER ZEVEZREENRMNE
BB -

RZZE_ZF=RF ASEEWBAR
(BIREFEKRE S (2 0) BRAR (8]
EEO))RETARERREEERD
AI(MBRERHRE]D)) AR E—MRT (R
ﬁD%ﬁa?% AR ERF B - R
—ZEF=RH" ﬁﬁ%@ﬁfﬁAEM
1%65%%&@ RE1824FEBT)
((EWEHAD M —2BYE=H (&
RMAAD EERELEOREEAREL
ROBERRIEEETF O IEF -
Eg R-ZZ_ZFNA EFXRAAMN
BREHARE1768BE T EERY
2163E BRI AR —BBILE=H
([BFAB]) #EEEREBAN IR
Mo NREBHEBEERABROARE
176.8 B &L (FHE R £210.0E B L)
AVERBE BH=F RETEFEH
5% B BELINAFE - HA:E:*
EF/\H E /\BE‘EQ‘Z’X/EIQT_L%U
%%m Bt ERABRBSH®EA ?
ZENA+N\BE-_ZE-—F+= H
_+ B U B E B 3R B R R

HRBE—T-_—Ft+-_A=t+— Ei
FEZHMERFERPEE RELST
BEBTT

RZZT=Z—F+=ZA=+—8 £&H
BREFABEHENHARKE1768EE T
(FHENRK2163BEBT) °

HE_T-__F+-_RA=+—HILFE-
ANEEEEASHA-_ZT-_—FXANH
Z REHIR (R R(2021)FE 08 R Y]

6565%) - ﬁ% BITR=_T=Z=F=A
MERAAREED EEHRERE

@WiAkﬁ$§ BREERRITEE
RAAZBWESR S ((FBERBE])
L%WFEWKE%E REFE - RIER
FHR - ARERAARFRERDZEK
FEWETS AR RE R E R T IRTT - M EFRA
ARBERTTFHBE R W EEMBRE
EANBEFZENRHZRTOFTBERA)
M&%E%D&L?ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
BAAREERERLAE

RECEIRIER AR AT /2024 F 3k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

BE—FE-—pEf - A=F+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

26. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(ii)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

(Continued)

As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisor, the HNYK
and Liaoning Taogibao shall prioritise repaying the Bank with
the outstanding loans and interests in accordance with the
civil judgement, and any remaining amount after the aforesaid
repayment shall be repaid to Lender B in accordance with the
loan agreement with the Lender B. As at 31 December 2023, the
maximum obligation that the Group may be indebted to the Bank
under the civil judgement amounted to approximately RMB251.3
million (equivalent to approximately HK$279.5 million).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is not necessarily to
repay the relevant outstanding loans and interests because, as
advised by the Company's PRC legal advisor, Lender A and other
defendants have priority over the HNYK and Liaoning Taogibao for
the repayment obligations, and therefore no additional provision
of approximately HK$61.3 million, being the difference between
the amount of the maximum obligation above and the carrying
amounts of other borrowings and interest payables, should be
provided concerning the civil judgement. However, up to the date
of this report, the Group is not able to ascertain the repayment
status of Lender A and other defendants nor their financial abilities
to fulfil the repayment obligations, which led to uncertainties on
the extent and financial impact arising from the civil judgement on
the Group's consolidated financial statement.

Pursuant to the loan agreement with Lender B, the Group’s other
borrowings were overdue as at 31 December 2023.

In September 2024, the disposal of the Disposal Group, which
included HNYK and Liaoning Taogibao, was completed, as a
result, the other borrowing was deconsolidated from the Group’s
consolidated financial statement. For the details of the disposal of
the Disposal Group, please refer to note 15(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

26. HtWEX (&)

Hfet - ()

(ii)

(&

BANA RN R R BUAEEB TS A REE
EOREEAREBREREHIMES
BERITREENEREFE MLt
BEENTNHRBEBREEERABL
VHERGEEETERAB RS
Z=HF+ZA=+—H RERFHR
AEBEAEBERBITHNESEZNAA
R#2513BET(HHERK279.5 B 8B
JT) ©

EERE BWMARABFBEAEBER
EH - BRAARE AR E AEREER
ETIBEFEREEOREEARE 20
At ASEHEEEZHBREZEERR
FE - I REFHIRGHREINEE
“e13EBEE T MLilseETeHE
HEMEBERRECSNEREEZENE
oA EEARESAE  AEEEE
B RAARE A E AR ETR
UHERTEREANT LN B
REHAAEAEEGREVBERRELED
BRERMBREFETRE -

RIBEERABRI L B % AEE
ZEMERR -_BE_=F+-A=+—
BE&H -

R-ZE-WFEAR  HEEE (BEREE
EOREERARE)DRAHE Bt
HBERD TBRARE ZEEMIBR
RhEEAR - FHEEEBEZHER
15 E2HEAFBMRME150b)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—F_F+_-HA=+—HIF&E

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
Ordinary shares
Number of per value of
shares HK$0.05 each
SREE
0.05/8 T2
BB EE EBER
‘000 HK$'000
Tk FET
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023and H-Z-_=%—HF—H -
1 January 2024 “E-=F+-A=1+—H
k=_ZE-m&E—A—H 1,000,000 50,000
Increase in authorised share capital B NETE BRA (ff 57 (@)

(note (a)) 9,000,000 450,000
At 31 December 2024 R_TE_WE+-_A=1—H 10,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023and H-_ZE-_=%—HF—H "
1 January 2024 —E-=%+-RA=+—H
k=_ZE-m&E—A—H 542,392 27,120
Issuance of shares for debt capitalisation TEBRE R L H BTG

arrangement (note (b)) (Bt5E b)) 896,994 44,849

At 31 December 2024 R-_ZF_WF+-A=+—H 1,439,386 71,969

All the shares issued by the Company rank pari passu and
do not carry pre-emptive rights.

Notes:

(a) On 2 May 2024, the Company passed the resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting to approve the authorised share
capital of the Company be increased from HK$50,000,000 divided
into 1,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.05 each to HK$500,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 shares by the creation of additional
9,000,000,000 shares.

RARBEITZAERNYZRRZE
i - BT HETEERE -

et -

(@ MRZZ-_NFRA-B AQRRKE
BHRAS EBBRAER HERBED
9,000,000,000 A% A% 7+ 1% 2N 1A BE E %
7K 4 50,000,000 7% 7T (43 & 1,000,000,000
BEHEREEB TZRG) BMNE
500,000,000 7T (% £ 10,000,000,000
BREE(R) o

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

BE—FE-—pEf - A=F+—HILFE

(b) On 25 January 2024, the Group entered into a settlement
agreement with the Mr. Pan Lihui (“Mr. Pan"”), Mr. Zhou Lixin
("Mr. Zhou"), Wonderland International Financial Holdings Limited
("WIFHL"), Longma International Family Services Group Limited
("Longma”), Wonderland International Finance Limited (“WIFL"),
Able Plus International Limited (“Able Plus”) and Mr. Tang
Zhengbang (“Mr. Tang") (together as the “Creditors”), pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a
total of 896,993,536 shares of the Company (the “New Shares”)
at the price of HK$0.05 per share to extinguish the indebted
amount with the Creditors of approximately HK$44,948,000 (the
"Indebted Amount”). The issuance of the New Shares for the
capitalisation of the Indebted Amount took place on 3 June 2024
(the "Completion Date”) and the aggregate outstanding principal
and the interests were fully settled accordingly.

Based on the closing price of the share of the Company on the
Completion Date, the fair value of the New Shares issued by the
Company was approximately HK$125,579,000. The difference
between the fair value of the New Shares issued by the Company
and the Indebted Amount was recognised as a loss on debt
capitalisation arrangement of approximately HK$80,631,000 in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

27. B (48)

Hfet - ()

(b)
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R-Z-_WF—A=-+HHB AEEHE
EERE ([BRE])  BAusmts
([Ax=x)) FEEEFoRZERERA
Al (TWIFHL)) - e S BB R ERE S E
BRAR ([E])  =EBEBRVBKER
A8 (TWIFL)) ~ SRR (%) R A
AITER]) RSEARE([BEED (5
BIERADIEERZ Bt - AR
Rl E TR E R S %0.057%8 T 2 BKE
%% N 3174 $£.896,993,536 I A 2 A AL 17
(THBHD)  UNEERERAZELES
FE4944,948,0008 7T ([EH L)) - &
THBRDUEEESEERNMEBER =S
ZHEAA=ZA(ERBH))EE M
FEEAS LA EBHECHETEEE-

RIBARABRGREHK B2 W E
o RARBMBITHRO ZAABEY
125,579,000 7T © AR A B FTETTH R
DrzARBEAEESEZHZZ8EE
REBEE-_ZT-_WMF+_A=+—HBLF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

For the year ended 31 December 2024

28. CASH FLOW INFORMATION — FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

This section sets out the movement of liabilities from
financing activities for the years ended 31 December 2024

AEFHINEE_T _NF R

TN

28. BEREER — METH

—_—_—

Ft_A=+—HLEFEXAMERD

and 2023. PEEZE -
Amount due Loansfrom  Loans from
toafellow Amountdue Shareholders' fellow related Interest Other
subsidiary  to a director loans  subsidiaries parties payable  borrowings Total
Eff-BEZ  BH-% REEZNE KERBE
WEAREE < EERE RRER  DEZER  AL2EX EANE  HpER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TR TER TR TER TER
Asat 1 January 2023 RZZFz=5-A-H 114 - 9,986 2,139 - 10,114 202,287 250,640
Net cash inflowsfloutflows) RemA/(hH) 38 (114 - 1,400 1,400 3800 - 5,588 12,074
Non-cash movements ES RV e
—interest charged —H8&R - - % 31 87 11,719 140 12,001
— gain on discount of other loans  — £t EFERB A - - - - - - (1,554) (1,554)
— exchange difference —EHER - - - - - (333) (5,830) 6,163)

As at 31 December 2023 and

RIFZZE+ZAZT-AR

1 January 2024 ZF-mE-F-H
Net cash inflows ReRAEE
Non-cash movements ES RV e
— debt capitalisation — ERER RS
arrangement (Note 27(b)) (Hza7)
— disposal of subsidiaries —HERBAF (W2 150)
(Note 15())
— interest charged — g &R
— exchange difference —-EREE
As at 31 December 2024 RZFZME+ZA=T-A

(11421)

- 4,612 1,600

(29,587)

2,851

(3.934)

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§

(32.814)
10,935
379

200,631

(198,132)
470
1312

4,281

266,998

(44,948)

(230,946)
11,486
1,691

13,893
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

BE—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

(a)

Employee retirement benefit

The Group enrolled all Hong Kong employees in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"”) Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group under the control of trustees.
The retirement benefit cost for the MPF Scheme
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents contributions paid to the fund by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
total cost charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss of approximately HK$59,000 (2023:
HK$91,000) represents contributions paid to these
schemes by the Group.

The Group contributed to certain retirement
benefit schemes based on the wages for certain
employees in the PRC. The total cost charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss of
approximately HK$240,000 (2023: HK$204,000)
represented the social insurance expenses paid in
the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2024.

—mEF+ = A=+ — AR

29. EERABEX

(a)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

EBERKER

REBZYMERREREES RS
HURAES ((BEE])E -7
$E§E+¥HZ;§EEEQ$EIEE%A
FriEhlc BEDFRA - REA
BRRANR 2 BB EERIK
RAK A IEAREEIRRE T E
RAEZEEREMESXNZ
K o

2T -_NF+_A=+—
HIEFE  RiaBEERNkRZ
#ARK AN 4959,0008 T (—E - =
% : 91,0008 L) EAEEE M
ZERTEI 2R o

AEERBEFRETREEMNT
EpET EWMIJJ%H Koo
REEAEBEEXRNKB ZEKAN
£®24oooo/%7c<_?__¢
204,000 L) EREHEZ-F
—MFE+—_A=+—HLEFER
PR Mz ERBFEX -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

BE—F

For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 December 2024, three
(2023: three) of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group were directors of the
Company, whose emolument are disclosed in note
34.

Details of the emoluments of the other two (2023:
two) individual for the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

—EEF= A=+ —HIEEE

29. EERABIX ()
(b) EUBREHFMAL

REBEE-_Z-_NF+_A=1+—
HIEFE AEBsaFHMna
BATH = (2=
ZR)ANTARNRRES  EB
TR EMHE -

HE-_ZT-_MFR_FTZ=F
+ZA=+—HIFE  Hi®K
H(ZEZ=F : MB) ATHIBH
EEHBOT -

2024
—ENF
HK$'000
FHT

Salaries, allowances and e
other benefits
Retirement benefit scheme

contributions

B K B Ad 48 R

RARARHFT B R

The emoluments were within the following bands:

Nil to HK$1 million

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FET
765

29

794

Bie N TATAER

2024
—E_NEF
Number of

employees

BEAH

2

2023
—E =%
Number of
employees

BEAH

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

BE—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2024 “WE+ZA=+—HItFE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the

consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into RE=E

the following material related party transactions during the A=+—HI1t&E -
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. TERBBEALRS -
(a) Key management personnel compensation (a) FEEBEAESHE

Key management includes executive directors of
the Company, financial controllers and company
secretary of the Group. The compensation paid or
payable to key management for employee services
is shown below:

=.

—-_=

Salaries, allowances and other e R R EMEF
benefits
Retirement benefit scheme

contributions

BB ET B R

(b) Amount due to a director (b) EfN—BEENRE
The advance was unsecured, non-interest bearing, LB
and repayable on demand. BERERER -

(c) Shareholders’ loans (c) BRRER

As at 31 December 2023, loans from Mr. Pan was
approximately HK$10.0 million, which was interest-
free.

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

30. FREALRS

2024
—E

HK$'000
FER

BRARE B R R B A 75 PTAREE & O -
—ECWERZIZFI=F+Z
Z'K;IEQ. IJT_LT BA

TZEBEABBRARRNITE
B 75 HA BE I AN SR B B R AR
E-EERBEHHENEIR
EEABZHEEMT :

2023

HK$'000
THETT

3,298

96

3,394

AR EEW - TETR XA

R-TE-_=F+—-"A=+—8"
REBEREZERYAI00H
BEL BRBER-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

Shareholders’ loans (Continued)

On 4 May 2023, the Company entered into a loan
facilities agreement with Mr. Zhou with a facility
amount of HK$1 million. The loan was interest
bearing at the rate of 3% per annum and unsecured.
On 7 August 2023, the Company entered into
another loan facilities agreement with Mr. Zhou with
a facility amount of HK$0.5 million which bore fixed
interest rate of 3% per annum. The Company has
drawn an aggregate loan amount of approximately
HK$1.4 million as at 31 December 2023.

Both loans from Mr. Pan and Mr. Zhou were
unsecured and repayable within twelve months from
the signing date of the loan facilities agreement
which were classified as current liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31
December 2023.

On 3 June 2024, the above loans were fully settled
through debt capitalisation arrangement, details
please refer to the note 27(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 24 April 2024, the Company entered into two
loan facility agreements with Mr. Pan and Mr. Zhou
with facility amounts of HK$1.2 million and HK$0.4
million, respectively. Both loans were interest-free,
unsecured and repayable in April 2026, which were
classified as non-current liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31 December
2024.

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

(c)

30. EREALRS (B)

BRERE (&)

R-_E-_=FAHAMNH  KAF
MELEATVERME &
EBEATEERBT ZEXRIK
FREI%FTEREER RN
T-=FN\AtH  AAREF
EEVURS—HERBME HE
MELEAOLSAES T KA
FEEFEMEI%FE -R_FTE=-=
F+-A=+—8 ARQFDIE
NERBBEN1A4GEBT -

KEEBEERERBAREZMEE
RO REEA - WARE R
EmEZEEHMES T @A
WEE BR-T-=%F+-A8
=t HAZEAMBRREKRT D
BARBEIE-

RZZE-_WFEXA=ZH" L&
HREFERBEBEMLLHEEE
B FEEL2HGREYBREN
F£27() °

R-Z-WNFEMA-+MAE K&
NGIEEN: S Sy S e S VA L)
EXBEmE RESBEI A
12BBBLh0AEEET W
EEFH AR BEERAER
TE-RFENAEE ARZE
“FE+— A=+ —HZHEH
BARAKRF D ERIERDEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBRRMEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

BE T _mE+_A=+—HIFE

Loans from fellow subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2023, loan from WIFHL was
approximately HK$28.14 million, which was interest-

free.

On 10 February 2023, the Company entered into a
loan facilities agreement with Longma with a facility
amount of HK$1 million. The loan was interest
bearing at the rate of 3% per annum and unsecured.
On 15 August 2023, the Company entered into
another loan facilities agreement with Longma with
a facility amount of HK$0.4 million which bore fixed
interest rate of 3% per annum. The Company has
drawn an aggregate loan amount of HK$1.4 million
as at 31 December 2023.

Both loans from WIFHL and Longma were unsecured
and repayable within twelve months from the signing
date of the loan facilities agreement which were
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31 December

2023.

On 3 June 2024, the above loans were fully settled
through debt capitalisation arrangement, details
please refer to the note 27(b) to the consolidated

financial statements.

On 24 April 2024, the Company entered into two
loan facility agreements with WIFHL and Longma
with facility amounts of approximately HK$2.5 million
and HK$0.4 million, respectively. Both loans were
interest-free, unsecured and repayable in April 2026,
which were classified as non-current liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31

December 2024.

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

BE_—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e)

Loans from related parties

As at 31 December 2023, loans from WIFL, Able Plus
and Mr. Tang were approximately HK$1.43 million,
HK$1.43 million and HK$1.03 million, respectively.
All loans were unsecured, bore fixed interest rate of
3% per annum, and repayable within twelve months
from the signing date of the loan facilities agreement
which were classified as current liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31
December 2023.

On 3 June 2024, the above loans were fully settled
through debt capitalisation arrangement, details
please refer to the note 27(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 24 April 2024, the Company entered into two
loan facility agreements with WIFL and Mr. Tang
with facility amounts of approximately HK$0.4 million
and HK$0.2 million, respectively. Both loans were
interest-free, unsecured and repayable in April 2026,
which were classified as non-current liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31
December 2024.

—mE+ = A=+ — AR

30.

FBREAEXRS (A)
(e) REEBEALZER

RZE-_=F+-A=+—H"
REWIFL ERARGEEZE
RORNAB143EEBIT 143
BEATRI0IEEBIT - A
ERY AEEE  RETFRE
3%ETE - WA \,\ﬁﬁ\mﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬁ
FEAMRTTZEAREE
BR-ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—H
ZEREMBIRREKRR D ERRE
=L

RZE-WNFA=H " LilE
REBBEBE MR HFEEE
B FIEFE2HEREMBEmEM
T 27(b) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For

30.

31

32.

the year ended 31 December 2024 B E_—ZT_NF+-A=1+—HIFFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(f) (f)

Related party transactions

30. EREALRS (B)
BEREALXS

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET

Interest expenses paid/payable to MIA T AL AR

MERX

— WIFL — WIFL 30
— Mr. Zhou — BxHE 24
— Longma — 85 31
— Mr. Tang — G E 26
— Able Plus — ER 31

The above-mentioned transactions were conducted
in the normal course of business, the interest
expenses and sales of goods were charged at
terms mutually agreed by the relevant parties and
companies.

. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments (2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in elsewhere of the consolidated
financial statements the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

31.

32.

FRARZZTIRIER R BIEDE
T MMBRAXREmIEERRA
Bt 77 B A B AR5 E RO SRR EAR

BERAE

RZEZ_WF+=ZA=+—H &%
By EEMAEREAAE (T =
FE)

HREE

BRERE B ISR H At 5 T FR & A1 -
R-ZE-—WE+=—A=+—H A&
B \EMERNSIABE(ZE ==
F M) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 33.
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR Z’E
Current assets RBEE

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Deposits, prepayments and other

& s B B8 X B kIR
®re - BARIER

receivables H th i U F 08
Bank and cash balances RIT IR gk
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H A 15 3R
Shareholder's loan f% R E K

Loans from fellow subsidiaries

PSICEN = PNl =

Loans from related parties REEBEALTZER
Amount due to a director B —REEHIE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETBT B A B 308
Net current liabilities RBEEFEE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Shareholder's loan f% R E K

Loans from fellow subsidiaries RERZRWB AR Z2EK
Loans from related parties REEBEALTZER
Other borrowings HmER

Net liabilities BEFHE

Capital and reserves EXRFE

Share capital [N

Reserves (EER

Total deficit JE5 4t 48 58

The statement of financial position has been
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2025 and is signed on its behalf by:

Li Gang

=Rl

Director

EF

RARFBRREREFEEE

ARRQT) 2B T

2024 2023
—E-NE B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FETT
3,480

- 12

673 1,196

673 4,688
2,109 4,095

- 11,410

- 29,570

- 3,887

4,612 —
4,054 5,402
10,775 54,364
(10,102) (49,676)
1,600 -
2,851 —
549 —
4,281 3,949
9,281 3,949
(19,383) (53,625)
71,969 27,120
(91,352) (80,745)
(19,383) (53,625)

MBRRREEZTEN_F -5
FZA-TN\BHAERHTIIE
ERREFERE

Cao Zhongshu
Lk
Director

EE

IREEEIBR IR B R A A / 2024 F 5§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ2_-FE_MF+_-A=1+—HILFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND B ARAMBURRRRBEERD

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) ARQBEESE
Share Capital Other  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total

Re®  AxRG  HURE  RHER #it
HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
T THET T TATL AT

As at 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-f-H 1,108,395 871 391,515 (1,747,750) (246,969)
Comprehensive income 2EkE
Profit for the year ERRET - - - 166,224 166,224
As at 31 December 2023 R-Z-=F
+-A=1-H 1,108,395 871 391515 (1,581,526) (80,745)
As at 1 January 2024 S R 1,108,395 391515  (158152)  (80,745)
Comprehensive loss 2EER
Loss for the year EREE (91,337) (91,337)
Reserve released upon disposal ~ HEMB AR ER 2
of subsidiaries [ 871
Issue of shares for debt REBEMELHET
capitalisation arrangement &in (Hizt271)
(Note 27(b))
As at 31 December 2024 RZE-mE
T-A=1-H 1,189,125 391515  (1671992) (91,352

1 60 ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& MM RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

BE—FE-—NEf - H=+—HIFF

3. EEFEINERESR

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments

The remuneration of every director and chief

executive is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024:

(a) ESRHEETRAEME

BREZERESTTHRA B
T

BE_E-_ME+-A=+-—AH

IEFE:

Emoluments paid to or receivable by the person in respect of
a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Gang

Mr. Pan Lihui

Mr. Jiang Senli (note (i)
Mr. Cao Zhongshu

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Senlin fnote (i)
Ms. Wu Wenling (Appointed

—EATREAESZ (ERARLARRERBLAAERZES) 2K
EEXNAEKzME
Salaries, Employer's
allowances contribution
Director's and other to pension
fee benefits scheme Total
Fe 2R BiketE
Ezhe HipfEA EEH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TR TR TR
BiTES
b
EUBEA
ERIEE (W)
Ehiist
FHUTES
ERMEE ()

RNBRLL(RZZ-mF

on 18 December 2024) +-AT/\BEZ{)
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
Directors
Mr. Zhong Jian ERlE4
Mr. Liu Qin EIEYit
Mr. Pan Yongye EKERE
Total EeHy
Note: Mtet -
(i) Mr. Jiang Senlin was redesignated from an executive (i) EHZMAEER T -_NFE LA R

director to a non-executive director on 5 July 2024.

HHMITESFERIENTES -

BEEBRERERAR /2024455 107



162

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR EE (48)

BE—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

—mEF+ = A=+ — AR

34. EEEARER (&)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

BE-ZT-_=-_Ft+_-A=1+—H

FFE

Emoluments paid to or receivable by the person in respect of

a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

—HANTHECEZ (BRANLAIANBRAARECES) LRE
BEXARER e
Salaries, Employer's
allowances contribution
Director's and other to pension
fee benefits scheme Total
F¢ 2R BINEEE
EZHe At iRl EEHT @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FEL FEL THT
Executive Directors HiTE=S
Mr. Li Gang FhEEE - 780 18 798
Mr. Pan Lihui EUBELE - 780 18 798
Mr. Jiang Senlin ZHMEAE - 780 18 798
Mr. Cao Zhongshu (Appointed ~ EREFE4E(R-ZT-=F
on 30 June 2023) NAZTHEZA) - 196 196
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHITEES
Directors
Mr. Zhong Jian FnE 180 - 180
Mr. Du Hongwei (Resignedon ~ HZEEEE(R-ZT-=F
5 March 2023) “ARHEL) 32 - 32
Mr. Liu Qin FE 180 - 180
Mr. Tan Xiangyi (Appointedon & A (RZE-=F
5March 2023 and resignedon = AR REZI LR
30 June 2023) “TZERAZTREE) 58 - 58
Mr. Pan Yongye (Appointed on 30 EKEXE(R-T-=F
June 2023) ~NAZTHEZA) 91 - 91
Total @t 541 2,536 54 3,131

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any Directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking during

the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

(b) EZRIKER

REBEZF-_NF+=A=1+—
AL HREEREAME
BARRIKEMBARIEHHA
b PR 725 78 52 ok R LK T fRTSR A AR

MZTEZ=F:8&) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

BE—F

For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to Directors as compensation
for the early termination of the appointment during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for
making available of Director’s services during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no arrangement in relation to loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of the
Directors, the controlled bodies corporate by and the
connected entities with such Director (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 30, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year (2023: Nil).

35. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2025.

—EEF= A=+ —HIEEE

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

35.

N
FE

I

34. EEEARER (&)

ESRIEERN

REBEE-_Z-_MF+-_A=+—
HIEFE  BMEREFRATKL
ZEMNEMNEE(ZE==
F | o

RERHESRBMGETE=
HZRE

REBEE-_ZT-_NMF+_-_A=+—
HIEFE BEFREREES
fREmMGETFE=ZAZ2RE(ZE
T=FE)

FRUESE ZESZZEH
ZERREEERZHAZE
FEERREMARZZ2ER

REBEEZZT-_NF+=-_A=1+—
HIEFE SMEFENES %
EEXEAEEREEERA

y\ﬁﬁ/\zE EEUA&H@Q
ShBE L (ZT=F &) -

EERRS  RHEREHNZE
KR

BRMIFESOFT I E & SN - A D F
BERARERERILFEARQR]
EFERYHERBEEAESER
R R F R B R E A X
CEERG THREH(ZZ
T=FE)

HERSMBRE

MBRRER T _HF=H

“tN\BEEEEHAERRETH -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hAFPRBHHE

A summary of the published consolidated results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five

financial years is set as below:

Results ES |

Revenue WA

Loss for the year attributable to A GIHEE A
the owners of the Company i FEERE

Assets and liabilities BEEREE

Total assets EELH

Total liabilities BELH

Non-controlling interests IR =

Capital and reserves attributable to A2 A1 A A JES

the owners of the Company

BA R

2024
Sk
HK$'000
TRT

461,848

(24,403)

2024
Sk
HK$'000
TRT

105,652
(69,606)
(23,304)

12,742

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+t—-HLEE

AEERBERAMBFREZE AMMEE
XEURGERBEERBERESRIINT

2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-=F ZE--fF —E--F —ZE-EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FEL FET
531,504 269,577 321,844 54,054
(35,750) (257,028) (357,773) (25,776)
As at 31 December
R+=BA=+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-=E DE-F T —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FET
304,604 394,125 555,312 879,226
(368,488) (434,296) (334,194) (309,514)
(15,796) (4,508) - -
(79,680) (44.679) 221,118 569,712
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